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Agenda Item 

7 
Date: August 29, 2011 

Memo to: Members of the IPSASB  

From: Joy Keenan  

Subject: Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis (formerly, ―Narrative 

Reporting‖) 

Objectives 

 To agree on the structure and content of the draft Exposure Draft (ED); and 

 To agree on next steps. 

Agenda Material 

7.0  Covering Memo  

7.1 Draft ED – Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

For information purposes: AAPC MD&A ―Best Practices‖ Task Group document, 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis – Best Practices 

http://www.ifac.org/
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Background 

1. At its June 2011 meeting, the IPSASB considered an issues paper which followed the 

scope set out in the March 2008 Project Brief. The scope of the project in the Project 

Brief was limited to narrative reports that were essentially the same as ―management 

discussion and analysis‖ or ―management commentary‖ reports in the private sector. That 

is, the report would focus on information contained in the financial statements. 

 

2. On this basis, the IPSASB concluded this project should develop a mandatory IPSAS 

following the IPSASB‘s due process for standards, and instructed staff to develop a draft 

ED for consideration at its September 2011 meeting.  

 

3. In its discussion at the June 2011 meeting, the IPSASB made a number of comments and 

tentative decisions on the Issues Paper presented. They are documented in the draft 

minutes extract in Appendix A to this paper.  

 

4. The Task-based Group (TBG) reviewed a draft of the ED in August. The TBG is: 

 Hong Lou (Yangchun Lu) 

 Bharti Prasad (Preeti Jha) 

 Ron Salole 

 Frans van Schaik 

 

5. The TBG made a number of suggestions, notably that the ED should include an 

illustrative example of what financial statement discussion and analysis could look like 

(see discussion of the Illustrative Example below).  

 

6. The IPSASB is asked to consider whether the draft ED addresses the IPSASB‘s 

comments appropriately, and what further changes are necessary to the draft ED to ready 

it for approval in December 2011. 

 

7. Note that your comments need not be limited to information presented in the paper, or 

changes made to reflect the IPSASB‘s discussion in June 2011. Please also consider 

whether any critical issues have not been identified and addressed, as well as the overall 

structure and presentation of the document. 

 

Questions for the IPSASB: 

1. Overall, do you consider the draft ED to be complete? (Note that staff has not included 

an Introduction section, based on the proposals in ED 45, and the responses to that ED) 

2. Is the flow and logic of the draft ED appropriate? 
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Specific Issues for Discussion 

Issue 1 – Scope 

8. The draft ED reflects the IPSASB‘s tentative decision in June 2011 that the scope of the 

project should relate only to the financial statements, and that the title for such reports 

should be ―financial statement discussion and analysis‖ rather than the previous 

―narrative reporting‖ which has a broader connotation in practice. This is addressed in the 

scope (paras. 2 9), the definition of financial statement discussion and analysis (para. 

10), and the Basis for Conclusions (paras. BC1–B4). Paragraph 9 contains an explicit 

statement that the responsibility for preparation of the financial statement discussion and 

analysis is the same as for the financial statements (as described in IPSAS 1). This is 

consistent with the assumption that the financial statement discussion and analysis would 

be presented with the financial statements. 

 

9. The definition is intended to clearly link the financial statement discussion and analysis 

to the financial statements. The details that were in the definition in the June 2011 Issues 

Paper have been covered in the other requirements in the draft ED. 

 

10. The IPSASB‘s views are sought on whether the scope is clearly defined in accordance 

with the IPSASB‘s tentative decisions at the June 2011 meeting and whether the 

definition of financial statement discussion and analysis is clear, complete, and consistent 

with that scope. 

 

Questions for the IPSASB: 

3. Do you agree the definition of financial statement discussion and analysis and related 

guidance?  

4. Are further explanations required? 

Issue 2 – Links to the IPSASB Conceptual Framework1 

11. The draft ED assumes the same objectives and users for financial statement discussion 

and analysis as those specified in Conceptual Framework ED 1 (CF-ED 1) because 

financial statement discussion and analysis is intended to complement and supplement 

the financial statements.  

 

12. The draft ED also contains guidance on how the objective and users relate specifically to 

financial statement discussion and analysis. 

 

13. The draft ED also sets out an overriding requirement that the financial statement 

discussion and analysis should include information that possesses the qualitative 

characteristics (QCs) of GPFRs set out in CF-ED 1.  

 

                                                           
1
  Appendices B, C and D to this paper contain relevant extracts from CF-ED 1. 
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14. The draft ED also contains specific requirements for each of the QCs. This approach is 

consistent with that taken in IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. It also 

contains guidance on how the QCs relate specifically to financial statement discussion 

and analysis. The TBG had reviewed a draft with only some of the QCs supported with a 

specific requirement in addition to the guidance. Subsequently, staff developed 

requirements for each of the QCs, as shown in paragraphs 25-58 of the draft ED. Staff 

considers it appropriate to start with bold-text requirements for all of the individual QCs, 

rather than only certain of them. Given the fact that there is guidance in the draft ED 

indicating the need for balance between the QCs, it would be inappropriate to have some 

QCs with requirements and some with guidance alone. Staff is of the view that if any of 

the QCs have a specific requirement, then all of them should. 

 

15. The IPSASB‘s views are sought on whether there is a need for specific requirements for 

each of the QCs. 

 

Questions for the IPSASB: 

5. Is the rationale provided for assuming the same objectives, users, and QCs of financial 

statement discussion and analysis as those set out in CF-ED1 sufficient and 

appropriate? 

6. Do you agree with the need for specific requirements related to each of the QCs 

(paragraphs 25-58) as they apply specifically to financial statement discussion and 

analysis in light of the general requirement (paragraph 17) that the information in 

financial statement discussion and analysis possess the qualitative characteristics of 

GPFRs ?  

Issue 3 – Content of Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 

16. The draft ED contains required minimum content for financial statement discussion and 

analysis, which was derived from material in the June 2011 Issues Paper and existing 

pronouncements (both IPSASs and those related to financial statement discussion and 

analysis.  

 

17. Staff considers these requirements strike an appropriate balance between the need for 

flexibility to allow entities to tailor the disclosures to their specific circumstances and 

promoting a degree of consistency among entities. In addition, the Illustrative Example is 

intended to show how an entity could meet those requirements by providing a frame of 

reference for preparers, which allows them to consider the entity‘s specific 

circumstances. 

 

Questions for the IPSASB: 

7. Do you agree with the required content of financial statement discussion and analysis in 

paragraph 56? 

8. Are there other content requirements that should be added? 
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Issue 4 – Transition 

18. The draft ED contains transitional provisions that are the same as those in IPSAS 1. Staff 

is of the view that these best apply to financial statement discussion and analysis which is 

based on the financial statements. 

 

Question for the IPSASB: 

9. Do you agree with the proposed transitional provisions? 

Issue 5 – Basis for Conclusions 

19. The draft ED contains a Basis for Conclusions that reflects the IPSASB‘s tentative 

conclusions to date on key issues discussed at the June 2011 IPSASB meeting. As such, 

at this point, it may require further details based on the IPSASB‘s decisions at its 

September 2011 meeting. 

 

Question for the IPSASB: 

10. Are the explanations provided in the draft Basis for Conclusions appropriate? 

11. Are additional explanations required?  

Issue 6 – Implementation Guidance and Illustrative Example 

20. At the June 2011 meeting, the IPSASB tentatively decided the draft ED should contain 

implementation guidance on types of information that may be included in financial 

statement discussion and analysis to satisfy the presentation requirements. The draft ED 

contains Implementation Guidance on specific disclosures about financial statement 

items, transactions, and events.  

 

21. As noted above, the TBG has made a suggestion that an illustrative example be 

developed for inclusion in the proposed Standard. Staff notes the pros of including such 

guidance in the IPSAS is that it would provide a starting point for entities preparing such 

information for the first time. A downside is that it could be seen as a template for 

preparing financial statement discussion and analysis, notwithstanding the caution in the 

guidance, which could take away from the usefulness of such reports in assessing the 

specific circumstances of the entity.  

 

22. An preliminary portion of the Overview section of a proposed illustrative example is 

provided in Agenda Paper 7.1.  It sets out the matters that may be included in an 

overview or summary section specified in paragraph 59(a) of the draft ED for the 

financial statements in the example. Those financial statements are based on the format of 

the financial statements in IPSAS 1. However, because the sample financial statements in 

that IPSAS do not contain figures, staff has developed the figures based on the relevant 

figures from IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. To the extent that IAS 1 does 

not address line items in IPSAS 1 (e.g., detailed revenue/expense items), staff has 

developed these figures based on judgment as to relative proportions of revenue and 

expense in looking at certain financial statements. The TBG has not yet reviewed this 

material due to time constraints subsequent to its meeting.  
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23. If the IPSASB agrees with including an illustrative example in the ED, staff and the TBG 

would further develop the preliminary illustrative example in Agenda Paper 7.1 for the 

December 2011 IPSASB meeting by:  

 

(a) Including a cash flow statement from IPSAS 2, Cash Flow Statements;  

 

(b) Further developing the analyses for additional matters. For example, staff expects 

to complete a detailed analysis of significant financial statement items, as noted in 

the implementation guidance and to develop charts and other non-narrative 

analyses of the information in the financial statements, as is often done in 

practice.  

 

24. As a result of the preliminary nature of the material prepared thus far, it is not intended, 

therefore, that the IPSASB focus unduly on the example at this meeting; it is provided to 

give an initial flavor of the type of illustration that the TBG would further develop 

between this meeting and the December 2011 meeting if the IPSASB agrees with this 

approach.  

 

25. Staff notes that another means of encouraging preparation of financial statement 

discussion and analysis that would comply with the proposed Standard is to provide 

examples of ―best practice‖ to highlight how entities have met the requirements in 

practice. The FASAB has prepared such a document, which is included in these materials 

for information purposes. It is acknowledged that it may not be possible to produce such 

a document related to the proposed Standard immediately, given that practice is 

developing and IPSAS-compliant financial statement discussion and analysis will not be 

available until it is implemented.  

 

Questions for the IPSASB: 

12. Do you agree with the need for including the implementation guidance in the draft 

ED? 

13. Do you agree with the need for including the illustrative example in the draft ED? 

Should the guidance be provided in another way, such as “best practices” 

illustrations outside of the Standard? 

14. Does the guidance provided strike an appropriate balance between the need for 

flexibility without creating a “template” for financial statement discussion and 

analysis that would render it less relevant to specific entities? 
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Appendix A  Extract from Draft June 2011 IPSASB Minutes 

9. NARRATIVE REPORTING (FINANCIAL STATEMENT DISCUSSION AND 

ANALYSIS) 

 Discuss issues (Agenda Item 9) 

Staff led the discussion of the issues presented in the Issues Paper.  

The need for this project was questioned in light of determining the IPSASB‘s project priorities. 

However, the IPSASB agreed that this type of report is an essential communication to allow 

financial statements to be better understood for decision making and accountability and thus, 

should have a high priority. It was noted that keeping the narrow focus was the appropriate way 

to move the project forward. 

Name of report 

The IPSASB considered the proposal to change the name of the type of report covered by this 

project to ‗financial statement discussion and analysis‘. It was noted that this term best describes 

the links of the report to the financial statements, which is the intended scope of the project. It 

also avoids the connotation that it has the broad meaning used in some jurisdictions to 

encompass such matters as long-tem fiscal sustainability and service performance reporting. 

Some Members noted the need to consider more broadly, ‗what is a GPFR?‘. The IPSASB 

agreed to use the term ‗financial statement discussion and analysis‘. 

Definition 

Members did not agree with reference to ‗key management personnel‘ in the proposed definition, 

as it may be thought to introduce requirements for governance. It was noted that since the FSDA 

is prepared by those responsible for the financial statements, the reference is not required; 

however, it was suggested that there be a reference to ‗on behalf of the entity‘.  

It was suggested that the second sentence of the proposed definition should be moved to 

guidance. 

Qualitative characteristics and constraints of FSDA 

Staff noted that the qualitative characteristics and constraints were discussed specifically in 

reference to their impact on FSDA. Members generally agreed with the approach taken, but 

suggested that in paragraph 46(b), ‗verifiable‘ should be deleted. 

Essential content 

Members noted that reference to ‗elements‘ in this section should be changed to ‗components‘ to 

avoid confusion with the usage in the Conceptual Framework and for consistency with the 

service performance reporting project. 

 

It was noted that risks should be only financial risks given the narrow scope of relating solely to 

the financial statements. 
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Members expressed some concerns regarding the list in paragraph 67 of the Issues Paper. It was 

noted that it should be checked for consistency with the CF-CP4 (see item 3.2) and with the 

long-term fiscal sustainability and service performance reporting projects. It was also noted that 

while the disclosures in the list may be appropriate for an entity, it may not be readily applicable 

to the whole of government. Staff was directed to develop guidance on applying the list to whole 

of government. 

 

In relation to item 67(e), it was noted that policy is outside the scope of FSDA. Members 

questioned whether the trend analysis was meant to conclude within the FSDA or whether the 

information was presented to allow the reader to conclude on trends. 

 

Members cautioned against possible overlap with the long-term fiscal sustainability and service 

performance reporting projects. It was also noted that in some jurisdictions, the next year budget 

information may be published before the FSDA. In such cases, changes would be shown in 

revised forecasts, and it would be inappropriate to include it in FSDA. Staff was directed to 

include two scenarios—one in which the entity has a structure that includes the published budget 

and one which does not.  

 

In relation to forward-looking information, Members questioned whether it would include, for 

example, projections and implementation of new policies. It was also questioned whether this 

project should follow a similar approach to the IASB Practice Statement, Management 

Discussion and Analysis. 

 

Members generally supported the proposal to include examples of types of analyses that could be 

provided for financial statement items, with the caution that the downside is a ‗boilerplate 

approach‘. This was thought to be counterbalanced by the need to communicate consistent 

information across entities. Some Members questioned whether the approach taken ought to be 

the same as that proposed for long-term fiscal sustainability. However, it was noted that given 

the more advanced state of development of FSDA relative to long-term fiscal sustainability 

reporting in practice, it was appropriate to provide guidance on the salient information that 

should be communicated, rather than encouraging experimentation. 

Type of pronouncement 

Some Members noted that, given that many governments already require or voluntarily provide 

such reports, it would be appropriate to issue a mandatory IPSAS for FSDA representing best 

practice. It was also pointed out that because the information is critical to accountability and 

decision making (it provides a ‗bridge‘ for citizens to understand the financial statements, it 

meets the requirements to be a standard. Members also noted that while such practice is not yet 

established for local governments, it was envisaged that a complete set of GPFS would include 

the statements, notes and FSDA. Others expressed the concern that for some entities, parts of the 

disclosures may be with the financial statements and others may be in other GPFRs.  
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A concern was expressed that it would be possible to comply with the proposed Standard and 

still not provide better information for accountability and decision making. Members noted that, 

while the proposed Standard would provide a benchmark for minimum reporting requirements 

for FSDA, guidance should be provided to encourage the highest possible communications in 

FSDA by clearly stating the objectives of FSDA. A question was raised as to whether going 

beyond the proposed Standard could conflict with auditability; however, it was noted that if the 

proposed Standard contained appropriate criteria for preparation overall, auditability would not 

be impaired. Furthermore, auditability is not within the remit of the IPSASB. 

Next Steps 

In light of the decision to develop a mandatory IPSAS, the IPSASB directed staff to develop a 

draft ED for consideration at its September 2011 meeting. 
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Appendix B  Extract from Conceptual Framework ED 1 on Objectives of Financial 

Reporting and Users of GPFRs 

2  Objectives of Financial Reporting and Users of General Purpose 
Financial Reports 

2.1  The objectives of financial reporting by public sector entities are to provide information 

about the entity that is useful to users of GPFRs for accountability purposes and for 

decision-making purposes (hereafter referred to as ―useful for accountability and 

decision-making purposes‖). 

2.2  Financial reporting is not an end in itself. Its purpose is to provide information useful to 

users of GPFRs. The objectives of financial reporting are therefore determined by 

reference to the users of GPFRs, and their information needs. 

Users of General Purpose Financial Reports 

2.3  Governments and other public sector entities raise resources from taxpayers, donors, 

lenders and other resource providers for use in the provision of services to citizens and 

other service recipients. These entities are accountable for their management and use of 

resources to those that provide them with resources, and to those that depend on them to 

use those resources to deliver necessary services. Those that provide the resources and 

receive, or expect to receive, the services will also require information as input for 

decision-making purposes. 

2.4  Consequently, GPFRs of public sector entities are developed primarily to respond to the 

information needs of service recipients and resource providers who do not possess the 

authority to require a public sector entity to disclose the information they need for 

accountability and decision-making purposes. The legislature (or similar body) and 

members of parliament (or a similar representative body) are also primary users of 

GPFRs when acting in their capacity as representatives of the interests of service 

recipients and resource providers. Therefore, for the purposes of this Conceptual 

Framework, the primary users of GPFRs are service recipients and their representatives 

and resource providers and their representatives. 

2.5  Citizens receive services from, and provide resources to, the government and other public 

sector entities. Therefore, citizens are primary users of GPFRs. Some service recipients 

and some resource providers that rely on GPFRs for the information they need for 

accountability and decision-making purposes may not be citizens―for example, residents 

who pay taxes and/or receive benefits but are not citizens; some multilateral or bilateral 

donor agencies and many lenders and corporations that provide resources to, and transact 

with, a government; and those that fund, and/or benefit from, the services provided by 

international governmental organizations. 

2.6  GPFRs prepared to respond to the information needs of service recipients and their 

representatives and resource providers and their representatives for accountability and 

decision-making purposes may also provide information useful to other parties and for 

other purposes. For example, government statisticians, analysts, the media, financial 

advisors, public interest and lobby groups and others may find the information provided 
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by GPFRs useful for their own purposes. Organizations that have the authority to require 

the preparation of financial reports tailored to meet their own specific information need 

may also use the information provided by GPFRs for their own purposes―for example, 

regulatory and oversight bodies, audit institutions, subcommittees of the legislature or 

other governing body, central agencies and budget controllers, entity management and, in 

some cases, lending institutions and providers of development and other assistance. 

While these other parties may find the information provided by GPFRs useful, they are 

not the primary users of GPFRs. Therefore, GPFRs are not developed to specifically 

respond to their particular information needs. 

Information Needs of Service Recipients and Resource Providers 

2.7  Service recipients include taxpayers and other members of the community that benefit 

from the services provided by the government or other public sector entity, whether as a 

result of exchange or non-exchange transactions. 

2.8  For accountability and decision-making purposes, service recipients and their 

representatives will require information as input to assessments of such matters as 

whether: 

•  The entity is using resources economically, efficiently, effectively and as intended, 

and whether such use is in their interests; 

•  The range, volume and cost of services provided during the reporting period, and the 

amounts and sources of their cost recoveries, are appropriate; and 

•  Current levels of taxes or other charges are sufficient to maintain the volume and 

quality of services currently provided. 

They will also require information about the entity‘s anticipated future service delivery 

activities and objectives, and the amounts and sources of cost recoveries necessary to 

support those activities. 

2.9  Resource providers include ―involuntary resource providers‖ such as taxpayers, and 

―voluntary resource providers‖ such as lenders, donors, suppliers, fee-for-service 

consumers and employees. 

2.10  For accountability and decision-making purposes, resource providers and their 

representatives will require information as input to assessments of such matters as 

whether the entity: 

•  Is achieving the objectives established as the justification for the resources raised 

during the reporting period; 

•  Funded current operations from funds raised in the current period from taxpayers or 

from borrowings or other sources; and 

•  Is likely to need additional (or less) resources in the future, and the likely sources of 

those resources. 

2.11  Lenders and creditors will require information as input to assessments of the liquidity of 

the entity and to confirm that the amount and timing of repayment will be as agreed. 

Donors will require information to support assessments of whether the entity is using 
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resources economically, efficiently, effectively and as intended. They will also need 

information about the entity‘s anticipated future service delivery activities and resource 

needs. In most cases, governments that provide resources to international governmental 

organizations are dependent on GPFRs of those organizations for information for 

accountability and decision-making purposes. 

Accountability and Decision Making 

2.12  Service recipients and resource providers will require information for accountability 

purposes and as input for making decisions. For example: 

•  Lenders, creditors, donors and others that provide resources on a voluntary basis, 

including in an exchange transaction, make decisions about whether to provide 

resources to support the current and future activities of the government or other 

public sector entity. In some circumstances, members of the legislature or similar 

representative body who depend on GPFRs for the information they need, can make 

or influence decisions about the service delivery objectives of government 

departments, agencies or programs and the resources allocated to support their 

achievement; and 

•  Taxpayers do not usually provide funds to the government or other public sector 

entity on a voluntary basis or as a result of an exchange transaction. In addition, in 

many cases, they do not have the discretion to choose whether or not to accept the 

goods and services provided by a public sector entity or to choose an alternative 

service provider. Consequently, they have little direct or immediate capacity to make 

decisions about whether to provide resources to the government, the resources to be 

allocated for the provision of services by a public sector entity or whether to purchase 

or consume the services provided. However, they can make decisions about their 

voting preferences, and representations they make to elected officials or other 

representative bodies―these decisions may have resource allocation consequences 

for certain public sector entities. 

2.13  Information provided in GPFRs for accountability purposes will contribute to, and 

inform, decision making. For example, information about the costs, efficiency and 

effectiveness of past service delivery activities, the amount and sources of cost recovery, 

and the resources available to support future activities will be necessary for the discharge 

of accountability. This information will also be useful for decision making by some users 

of GPFRs, including decisions that donors and other financial supporters make about 

providing resources to the entity. 

Information Provided by General Purpose Financial Reports 

2.14  To respond to the information needs of users, GPFRs will need to provide information 

about the financial position of the government or other public sector entity as at the 

reporting date and its financial performance, cash flows, and changes in net assets during 

the reporting period. GPFRs will also need to provide financial and non-financial 

information about such matters as the government‘s or other public sector entity‘s: 

• Service delivery activities, achievements or outcomes during the reporting period, 

including whether resources have been used economically, efficiently, and 
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effectively, and in accordance with approved budgets and other authority that justified 

the raising and use of those resources; and 

•  Plans and objectives for service delivery in the future, including the anticipated 

amount and sources of the resources needed to support those plans and objectives. 

Financial Position, Financial Performance and Cash Flows 

2.15  Information about the financial position of a government or other public sector entity will 

enable users to identify the resources of the entity that can be used to provide particular 

services in future periods and claims to those resources at the reporting date. This will 

provide information useful as input to assessments of such matters as: 

•  The extent to which management has discharged its responsibilities for safekeeping 

and managing the resources of the entity; 

•  The extent to which resources are available to support future service delivery 

objectives; and 

•  The amounts and timing of future cash flows necessary to service and repay existing 

claims to the entity‘s resources. 

2.16  Information about the financial performance of a government or other public sector entity 

will inform assessments of matters such as whether the entity has acquired resources 

economically, and used them efficiently and effectively to achieve its service delivery 

objectives. Information about the costs of service delivery and the amounts and sources 

of cost recovery during the reporting period will enable users to determine whether 

operating costs were recovered from, for example, taxes, user charges, contributions and 

transfers or were financed by increasing the level of indebtedness of the entity. 

2.17  The financial performance of public sector entities will not be fully or adequately 

reflected in any measure of their financial result (whether described as ―surplus or 

deficit,‖ ―profit or loss,‖ or by other terms). Rather, assessments of their financial 

performance will involve analysis of such matters as: 

•  The purposes for which resources were used during the reporting period; 

•  The costs, efficiency and effectiveness of service delivery during the reporting period; 

and 

•  Changes during the reporting period in the amount and composition of the resources 

that are available for the provision of services in the future and claims to those 

resources. 

2.18  Information about the cash flows of a government or other public sector entity 

contributes to assessments of financial performance and the entity‘s liquidity and 

solvency. It indicates how the entity raised and used cash during the period, including its 

borrowing and repayment of borrowing and its acquisition and sale of, for example, 

property, plant, and equipment. It also identifies the cash received from, for example, 

taxes and investments and the cash transfers made to, and received from, other 

governments, government agencies or international organizations. Information about cash 

flows can also support assessments of the entity‘s compliance with spending mandates 
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expressed in cash flow terms, and inform assessments of the likely amounts and sources 

of cash inflows needed in future periods to support service delivery objectives. 

Compliance with the Budget 

2.19  Governments and other public sector entities are accountable to constituents for their use 

of the resources raised from them, or raised or provided on their behalf. The approved 

budget of a government or other public sector entity reflects the financial characteristics 

of the entity‘s plans for the forthcoming period. It is used to justify the raising of monies 

from taxpayers and other resource providers, and establishes the authority for expenditure 

of public monies. 

2.20  Information that assists users in assessing the entity‘s compliance with legally adopted or 

approved budgets, and its adherence to relevant legislation or other authority governing 

the raising and use of public monies, is included in GPFRs. Such information is necessary 

for the discharge of a government‘s (or other entity‘s) accountability to its constituents, 

and will inform decision making. 

Service Delivery Achievements 

2.21  Reporting non-financial as well as financial information about service delivery activities, 

achievements or outcomes during the reporting period will provide input to assessments 

of the economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of the entity‘s operations. Reporting this 

information is necessary for a government or other public sector entity to discharge its 

obligation to be accountable―that is, to account for, and justify the use of, the financial 

resources raised from, or on behalf of, constituents. Decisions that donors make about the 

allocation of resources to particular entities and programs are also made, at least in part in 

response to information about service delivery achievements during the reporting period, 

and future service delivery objectives. 

Prospective Financial and Non-financial Information 

2.22  Decisions made by a government or other public sector entity in a particular period about 

programs for delivering and funding services in the future can have significant 

consequences for: 

•  Constituents who will be dependent on those services in the future; and 

•  Current and future generations of taxpayers and other involuntary resource providers 

who will provide the taxes and levies to fund the planned service delivery activities 

and related financial commitments. 

2.23  Information about the entity‘s anticipated future service delivery activities and objectives, 

their likely impact on the future resource needs of the entity, and the likely sources of 

funding for such resources, will be necessary as input to any assessment of the ability of 

the government or other public sector entity to meet its service delivery and financial 

commitments in the future. The disclosure of such information in GPFRs will enhance 

the accountability of the entity and provide additional information useful for decision-

making purposes. 
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Narrative Reports 

2.24  Narrative reports can provide additional information about the major factors underlying 

the financial and service delivery performance of the entity during the reporting period. 

They can also outline the assumptions that underpin expectations about, and factors that 

are likely to influence, the entity‘s future performance. This will assist users to better 

understand and place in context the financial and non-financial information included in 

GPFRs, and enhance the role of GPFRs in providing information useful for 

accountability and decision-making purposes. 

2.25  In some cases, quantitative measures of the outputs and outcomes of the entity‘s service 

delivery activities during the period and anticipated activities in future periods will 

provide relevant information about the achievement of these service delivery 

objectives―for example, information about the cost, volume, and frequency of service 

delivery, and the relationship of services provided to the resource base of the entity. In 

other cases, the achievement of service delivery objectives may need to be communicated 

by an explanation of the quality of particular services provided or the outcome of certain 

programs. 

Other Sources of Information 

2.26  GPFRs play a significant role in communicating information necessary to support the 

discharge of a government‘s or other public sector entity‘s obligation to be accountable, 

as well as providing information useful as input for decision-making purposes. However, 

some information useful for accountability and decision-making purposes may also be 

provided by reports other than GPFRs. Consequently, service recipients and resource 

providers may also need to consider information from other sources, including reports on 

current and anticipated economic conditions, government budgets and forecasts, and 

information about government policy initiatives not reported in GPFRs.  
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Appendix C  Extract from Conceptual Framework ED 1 on the Qualitative 

Characteristics of, and Constraints on, Information included in General Purpose 

Financial Reports  

3 Qualitative Characteristics of, and Constraints on, Information 

included in General Purpose Financial Reports  

3.1 GPFRs present financial and non-financial information about economic or other 

phenomena. The qualitative characteristics of information included in GPFRs are the 

attributes that make that information useful to users and support the achievement of the 

objectives of financial reporting. The objectives of financial reporting are to provide 

information useful for accountability and decision-making purposes.  

3.2 The qualitative characteristics of information included in GPFRs of public sector entities 

are relevance, faithful representation, understandability, timeliness, comparability, and 

verifiability.  

3.3 Materiality, cost-benefit, and achieving an appropriate balance between the qualitative 

characteristics are pervasive constraints on information included in GPFRs.  

3.4 Each of the qualitative characteristics is integral to, and works with, the other 

characteristics to provide in GPFRs information useful for achieving the objectives of 

financial reporting. However, in practice, all qualitative characteristics may not be fully 

achieved, and a balance or trade-off between certain of them may be necessary.  

3.5 The qualitative characteristics apply to all financial and non-financial information 

reported in GPFRs, including historic and prospective information, and explanatory 

material or other narrative reporting. However, the extent to which the qualitative 

characteristics can be achieved may differ depending on the degree of uncertainty and 

subjective assessment or opinion involved in compiling the financial and non-financial 

information. The need for additional guidance on interpreting and applying the qualitative 

characteristics to information that extends the scope of financial reporting beyond 

financial statements including their notes will be considered in the development of any 

IPSASs and other pronouncements of the IPSASB that deal with such matters.  

Relevance  

3.6 Financial and non-financial information is relevant if it is capable of making a difference 

in achieving the objectives of financial reporting. Financial and non-financial information 

is capable of making a difference when it has confirmatory value, predictive value, or 

both. It may be capable of making a difference, and thus be relevant, even if some users 

choose not to take advantage of it or are already aware of it.  

3.7 Financial and non-financial information has confirmatory value if it confirms or changes 

past (or present) expectations. For example, information will be relevant for 

accountability and decision-making purposes if it confirms expectations about such 

matters as the extent to which managers have discharged their responsibilities for the 

efficient and effective use of resources, the achievement of specified service delivery 

objectives, and compliance with relevant budgetary, legislative and other requirements.  
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3.8 GPFRs may present information about an entity‘s anticipated future service delivery 

activities, objectives and costs, and the amount and sources of the resources that are 

intended to be allocated to providing services in the future. Such future oriented 

information will have predictive value and be relevant for accountability and decision-

making purposes. Information about economic and other phenomena that exist or have 

already occurred can also have predictive value in helping form expectations about the 

future. For example, information that confirms or disproves past expectations can 

reinforce or change expectations about financial results and service delivery outcomes 

that may occur in the future.  

3.9 The confirmatory and predictive roles of information are interrelated―for example, 

information about the current level and structure of an entity‘s resources and claims to 

them helps users to confirm the outcome of resource management strategies during the 

period, and to predict an entity‘s ability to respond to changing circumstances and 

anticipated future service delivery needs. The same information helps to confirm or 

correct users‘ past expectations and predictions about the entity‘s ability to respond to 

such changes. It also helps to confirm or correct prospective financial information 

included in previous GPFRs.  

Faithful Representation 

3.10 To be useful in financial reporting, information must be a faithful representation of the 

economic and other phenomena that it purports to represent. Faithful representation is 

attained when the depiction of the phenomenon is complete, neutral, and free from 

material error. Information that faithfully represents an economic or other phenomenon 

depicts the substance of the underlying transaction, other event, activity or 

circumstance―which is not necessarily always the same as its legal form. 

3.11 In practice, it may not be possible to know or confirm whether information presented in 

GPFRs is fully complete, neutral, and free from material error. However, information 

should be as complete, neutral, and free from material error as is possible.  

3.12 A depiction of an economic or other phenomenon is complete if it includes all 

information that is necessary for faithful representation of the phenomenon that it 

purports to depict. An omission of some information can cause the representation to be 

false or misleading, and thus not useful to users of GPFRs. For example, a complete 

depiction of the item ―plant and equipment‖ in GPFRs will include a numeric 

representation of the aggregate amount of plant and equipment together with other 

quantitative, descriptive and explanatory material necessary to faithfully represent that 

class of assets. In some cases, this may include the disclosure of information about such 

matters as the major classes of plant and equipment, factors that have affected their use in 

the past or might impact on their use in the future, and the basis and process for 

determining their numeric representation. Similarly, prospective financial and non-

financial information, and information about the achievement of service delivery 

objectives and outcomes, included in GPFRs will need to be presented with the key 

assumptions that underlie that information, and any explanations that are necessary to 

ensure that its depiction is complete and useful to users. 
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3.13 Neutrality in financial reporting is the absence of bias. It means that the selection and 

presentation of financial and non-financial information is not made with the intention of 

attaining a particular predetermined result―for example, to influence in a particular way 

users‘ assessment of the discharge of accountability by the entity or a decision or 

judgment that is to be made, or to induce particular behaviour.  

3.14 Neutral information faithfully represents the economic and other phenomena that it 

purports to represent. However, to require information included in GPFRs to be neutral 

does not mean that it is not without purpose or that it will not influence behaviour. 

Relevance is a qualitative characteristic and, by definition, relevant information is 

capable of influencing users‘ assessments and decisions.  

3.15 The economic and other phenomena represented in GPFRs generally occur under 

conditions of uncertainty. Information included in GPFRs will therefore often include 

estimates that incorporate management‘s judgment. To faithfully represent an economic 

or other phenomenon, an estimate must be based on appropriate inputs, and each input 

must reflect the best available information. Caution will need to be exercised when 

dealing with uncertainty. It may sometimes be necessary to explicitly disclose the degree 

of uncertainty in financial and non-financial information to faithfully represent economic 

and other phenomena. 

3.16 Free from material error does not mean complete accuracy in all respects. Free from 

material error means there are no errors or omissions that are individually or collectively 

material in the description of the phenomenon, and the process used to produce the 

reported information has been applied as described. In some cases, it may be possible to 

determine the accuracy of some information included in GPFRs―for example, the 

amount of a cash transfer to another level of government, volume of services delivered or 

the price paid for the acquisition of plant and equipment. However, in other cases it may 

not―for example, the accuracy of an estimate of the value or cost of an item or the 

effectiveness of a service delivery program may not be able to be determined. In these 

cases, the estimate will be free from material error if the amount is clearly described as an 

estimate, the nature and limitations of the estimation process are explained, and no 

material errors have been identified in selecting and applying an appropriate process for 

developing the estimate.  

Understandability  

3.17 Understandability is the quality of information that enables users to comprehend its 

meaning. GPFRs of public sector entities should present information in a manner that 

responds to the needs and knowledge base of users, and to the nature of the information 

presented. For example, explanations of financial and non-financial information and 

narrative reporting of achievements and expectations should be written in plain language, 

and presented in a manner that is readily understandable by users. Understandability is 

enhanced when information is classified, characterized, and presented clearly and 

concisely. Comparability also can enhance understandability.  

3.18 Users of GPFRs are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of the entity‘s activities 

and the environment in which it operates, to be able and prepared to read GPFRs, and to 
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review and analyze the information presented with reasonable diligence. Some economic 

and other phenomena are particularly complex and difficult to represent in GPFRs, and 

some users may need to seek the aid of an advisor to assist in their understanding of 

them. All efforts should be undertaken to represent economic and other phenomena 

included in GPFRs in a manner that is understandable to a wide range of users. However, 

information should not be excluded from GPFRs solely because it may be too complex or 

difficult for some users to understand without assistance.  

Timeliness 

3.19 Timeliness means having information available for users before it loses its capacity to be 

useful for accountability and decision-making purposes. Having relevant information 

available sooner can enhance its usefulness as input to assessments of accountability and 

its capacity to inform and influence decisions that need to be made. A lack of timeliness 

can render information less useful.  

3.20 Some items of information may continue to be useful long after the reporting period or 

reporting date. For example, for accountability and decision-making purposes, users of 

GPFRs may need to assess trends in the financial and service delivery performance of the 

entity and its compliance with budgets over a number of reporting periods. In addition, 

the outcome and effects of some service delivery programs may not be determinable until 

future periods―this may occur in respect of programs intended to, for example, enhance 

the economic well-being of constituents, reduce the incidence of a particular disease, or 

increase literacy levels of certain age groups.  

Comparability 

3.21 Comparability is the quality of information that enables users to identify similarities in, 

and differences between, two sets of phenomena. Comparability is not a quality of an 

individual item of information, but rather a quality of the relationship between two or 

more items of information.  

3.22 Comparability differs from consistency. Consistency refers to the use of the same 

accounting policies and procedures, either from period to period within an entity or in a 

single period across more than one entity. Comparability is the goal, and consistency 

helps in achieving that goal.  

3.23 Comparability also differs from uniformity. For information to be comparable, like things 

must look alike, and different things must look different. An over-emphasis on uniformity 

may reduce comparability by making unlike things look alike. Comparability of 

information in GPFRs is not enhanced by making unlike things look alike, any more than 

it is by making like things look different.  

3.24 Information about the entity‘s financial position, financial performance, compliance, 

service delivery achievements, and its future plans is necessary for accountability 

purposes and useful as input for decision-making purposes. The usefulness of such 

information is enhanced if it can be compared with, for example: 
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 The budget of the entity for the reporting period, or prospective financial and non-

financial information previously presented for that reporting period or reporting 

date; 

 Similar information about the same entity for some other period or some other point 

in time; and  

 Similar information about other entities (for example, public sector entities 

providing similar services in different jurisdictions).  

3.25 Consistent application of accounting policies to prospective financial and non-financial 

information and actual outcomes will enhance the usefulness of any comparison of 

projected and actual results. Comparability with other entities may be less significant for 

narrative reporting of management‘s perception or opinion of the factors underlying the 

entity‘s current performance.  

Verifiability  

3.26 Verifiability is the quality of information that helps assure users that information in 

GPFRs faithfully represents the phenomena that it purports to represent. Supportability is 

sometimes used to describe this quality when applied in respect of explanatory 

information and prospective financial and non-financial quantitative information 

disclosed in GPFRs―that is, the quality of information that helps assure users that 

explanatory or prospective financial and non-financial quantitative information faithfully 

represents the phenomena that it purports to represent. Whether referred to as verifiability 

or supportability, the characteristic implies that different knowledgeable and independent 

observers could reach general consensus, although not necessarily complete agreement, 

that either: 

• The information represents the phenomena that it purports to represent without 

material error or bias; or  

• An appropriate recognition, measurement, or representation method has been 

applied without material error or bias.  

3.27 To be verifiable, information need not be a single point estimate. A range of possible 

amounts and the related probabilities also can be verified.  

3.28 Verification may be direct or indirect. With direct verification, an amount or other 

representation is itself verified, such as by (a) counting cash, (b) checking records of 

service response times or records of patients treated, (c) observing marketable securities 

and their quoted prices, or (d) confirming that the factors identified as influencing past 

service delivery performance were present and operated with the effect identified. With 

indirect verification, the amount or other representation is verified by checking the inputs 

and recalculating the outputs using the same accounting convention or methodology. An 

example is verifying the carrying amount of inventory by checking the inputs (quantities 

and costs) and recalculating the ending inventory using the same cost flow assumption 

(for example, average cost or first-in-first-out).  

3.29 The quality of verifiability (or supportability if such term is used to describe this 

characteristic) is not an absolute―some information may be more or less capable of 



IFAC IPSASB Meeting Agenda Paper 7.0 

September 2011 – Toronto, Canada  Page 21 of 22 
 

MJK August 2011 
 

verification than other information. However, the more verifiable is the information 

included in GPFRs, the more it will assure users that the information faithfully represents 

the phenomena that it purports to represent.  

3.30 GPFRs of public sector entities may include financial and other quantitative information 

and explanations about (a) key influences on the entity‘s performance during the period, 

(b) the anticipated future effects or outcomes of service delivery programs undertaken 

during the reporting period, and (c) prospective financial and non-financial information. 

It may not be possible to verify the accuracy of all quantitative representations and 

explanations of such information until a future period, if at all.  

3.31 To help assure users that prospective financial and non-financial quantitative information 

and explanations included in GPFRs faithfully represents the phenomena that they 

purport to represent, the assumptions that underlie the information disclosed, the 

methodologies adopted in compiling it, and the factors and circumstances that support 

any opinions expressed or disclosures made should be transparent. This will enable users 

to form judgements about the appropriateness of those assumptions and the method of 

compilation, measurement, representation and interpretation of the information.  

Constraints on Information Included in General Purpose Financial Reports  

Materiality 

3.32 Information is material if its omission or misstatement could influence the discharge of 

accountability by the entity, or the decisions that users make on the basis of the entity‘s 

GPFRs prepared for that reporting period. Materiality depends on both the nature and 

amount of the item judged in the particular circumstances of each entity. GPFRs may 

encompass qualitative and quantitative information about service delivery achievements 

during the reporting period, and expectations about service delivery and financial 

outcomes in the future. Consequently, it is not possible to specify a uniform quantitative 

threshold at which a particular type of information becomes material.  

3.33 Assessments of materiality will be made in the context of the legislative, institutional and 

operating environment within which the entity operates and, in respect of prospective 

financial and non-financial information, the preparer‘s knowledge and expectations about 

the future. Disclosure of information about compliance or non-compliance with 

legislation, regulation or other authority may be material because of its 

nature―irrespective of the magnitude of any amounts involved. In determining whether 

an item is material in these circumstances, consideration will be given to such matters as 

the nature, legality, sensitivity and consequences of past or anticipated transactions and 

events, the parties involved in any such transactions and the circumstances giving rise to 

them.  

Cost-Benefit 

3.34 Financial reporting imposes costs. The benefits of financial reporting should justify those 

costs. Assessing whether the benefits of providing information justify the related costs is 

often a matter of judgment, because it is often not possible to identify and/or quantify all 

the costs or benefits of information included in GPFRs.  
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3.35 The costs of providing information include the costs of collecting and processing the 

information, the costs of verifying it and/or presenting the assumptions and 

methodologies that support it, and the costs of disseminating it. Users incur the costs of 

analysis and interpretation. Omission of useful information also imposes costs, including 

the costs that users incur to obtain needed information from other sources and the costs 

that result from making decisions using incomplete data provided by GPFRs.  

3.36 Preparers expend the majority of the effort to provide information in GPFRs. However, 

service recipients and resource providers ultimately bear the cost of those 

efforts―because resources are redirected from service delivery activities to preparation 

of information for inclusion in GPFRs.  

3.37 Users reap the majority of benefits from the information provided by GPFRs. However, 

information prepared for GPFRs may also be used internally by management and result 

in better management decision making. The disclosure of information in GPFRs 

consistent with the principles identified in this Conceptual Framework and IPSASs 

derived from them will enhance and reinforce perceptions of the transparency of 

reporting by governments and other public sector entities and contribute to the more 

accurate pricing of public sector debt. Therefore, public sector entities may also benefit in 

a number of ways from the information provided by GPFRs. 

3.38 Application of the cost-benefit constraint involves assessing whether the benefits of 

reporting information are likely to justify the costs incurred to provide and use the 

information. When making this assessment, it is necessary to consider whether one or 

more qualitative characteristics might be sacrificed to some degree to reduce cost.  

3.39 In developing IPSASs, the IPSASB considers information from preparers, users, 

academics, and others about the expected nature and quantity of the benefits and costs of 

the proposed requirements. Disclosure and other requirements which result in the 

presentation of information useful to users of GPFRs for accountability and decision-

making purposes and satisfy the qualitative characteristics are prescribed by IPSASs 

unless the costs of compliance with those requirements are assessed by the IPSASB to be 

greater than their benefits.  

Balance Between the Qualitative Characteristics  

3.40 The qualitative characteristics work together in different ways to contribute to the 

usefulness of information. For example, neither a depiction that faithfully represents an 

irrelevant phenomenon, nor a depiction that unfaithfully represents a relevant 

phenomenon, results in useful information. Similarly, to be relevant, information must be 

timely and understandable.  

3.41 In some cases, a balancing or trade-off between qualitative characteristics may be 

necessary to achieve the objectives of financial reporting. The relative importance of the 

qualitative characteristics in each situation is a matter of professional judgment. The aim 

is to achieve an appropriate balance among the characteristics in order to meet the 

objectives of financial reporting. 
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REQUEST FOR COMMENTS 

The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board, an independent standard-setting 

body within the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), approved this Exposure Draft, 

ED 48, Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis, for publication in January 2012. The 

proposals in this Exposure Draft may be modified in light of comments received before being 

issued in final form. Comments are requested by May 31, 2012. 

Respondents are asked to submit their comments electronically through the IFAC website 

(www.ifac.org), using the ―Submit a Comment‖ link on the Exposure Drafts and Consultation 

Papers page. Please note that first-time users must register to use this new feature. All comments 

will be considered a matter of public record and will ultimately be posted on the IFAC website 

Although IFAC prefers that comments be submitted electronically, e-mail may continue to be 

sent to edcomments@ifac.org and stepheniefox@ifac.org. Comments can also be faxed to the 

attention of the IPASB Technical Director at +1 (416) 204-3412, or mailed to: 

The Technical Director 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board 

International Federation of Accountants 

277 Wellington Street, 4th Floor 

Toronto, Ontario M5V 3H2 CANADA 

Copies of this exposure draft may be downloaded free-of-charge from the IFAC website at 

http://www.ifac.org  
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) XX (ED 48), Financial Statement 

Discussion and Analysis is set out in paragraphs 1–84. All the paragraphs have equal 

authority. IPSAS XX (ED 48) should be read in the context of its objective, the Basis for 

Conclusions, and the Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards. IPSAS 3, 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors provides a basis for 

selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.  
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Objective 

1. The objective of this Standard is to prescribe disclosure requirements for an entity’s 

financial statement discussion and analysis that relates to financial statements that 

have been prepared in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting 

Standards (IPSASs). The Standard does not specify detailed lists of specific 

disclosures, but rather, the type of content expected to be reported at a high level with 

examples of what such disclosures might look like to allow entities to tailor the 

disclosures to their specific circumstances. 

Scope 

2. This Standard shall be applied to all financial statement discussion and analysis 

related to general purpose financial statements prepared and presented under the 

accrual basis of accounting in accordance with IPSASs. 

 

3. This Standard applies only to financial statement discussion and analysis. It does not 

apply to other information presented in either the general purpose financial statements 

or in general purpose financial reports. 

4. This Standard applies to all public sector entities other than Government 

Business Enterprises. 

5. The Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards issued by the 

IPSASB explains that Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) apply IFRSs issued 

by the IASB. GBEs are defined in IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.  

Identification and Responsibility 

6. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall be identified clearly, and 

distinguished from other information in the same published document. 

 

7. Financial statement discussion and analysis is based on, and intended to complement 

and supplement, the financial statements prepared using IPSASs. Therefore, an entity 

should identify in the financial statement discussion and analysis the financial 

statements to which it relates.  

 

8. For the purposes of this Standard, it is assumed that an entity will make the financial 

statements available with the financial statement discussion and analysis. In cases 

when the financial statement discussion and analysis is not presented with the financial 

statements, it may be necessary to clearly describe the scope of the financial statement 

discussion and analysis and the period to which it relates.  

 

9. It is important that users can distinguish information that is prepared using IPSASs 

from other information that may be useful to users but is not the subject of those 

requirements. Financial statement discussion and analysis should be clearly identified 

and distinguished from other information presented in general purpose financial 

reports.  
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10. For purposes of this Standard, it is assumed that the responsibility for the preparation 

of the financial statement discussion and analysis is the same party having 

responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements as 

described in IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.  

 

11. In some jurisdictions, preparation of financial statement discussion and analysis is 

required by legislation or regulation. In such cases, the financial statement discussion 

and analysis should refer to the relevant authority. 

Definition 

12. The following term is used in this Standard with the meaning specified: 

 

Financial statement discussion and analysis is a report prepared by those 

responsible for the preparation of the entity’s general purpose financial 

statements that provides discussion and analysis of information presented in 

those financial statements.  
 

 Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same meaning 

as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms 

published separately. 

Objective and Users of Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis  

13. Where an entity prepares its general purpose financial statements in accordance 

with IPSASs, it shall also prepare financial statement discussion and analysis in 

accordance with this IPSAS.                                                                                                                

 

14. Transactions entered into by public sector entities may be complex and the financial 

statements that report on such transactions may be consequently increasingly complex 

and detailed. For users to gain a better understanding of information contained in the 

financial statements, other information is required beyond that contained in the 

financial statements. The objective of financial statement discussion and analysis is to 

provide such information to encourage better analysis of the entity’s current 

operations. For example, identification of the main events, trends, and factors that 

influenced the current reporting period provides useful information for decision 

making regarding the use of scarce resources.  

 

15. Financial statement discussion and analysis assists the users of the financial statements 

in understanding and interpreting the financial statements, by expanding on and 

explaining information contained in the financial statements. It is intended to provide 

user-friendly descriptions of the entity’s financial operations than the financial 

statements alone, and in ways that users can readily understand. It may also 

demonstrate linkages and dependencies among financial statement items that users 

may not otherwise be able to identify.  
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16. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall provide users of financial 

statements with information that assists in their understanding of the financial 

statements. 

 

17. The two primary users of financial statement discussion and analysis of public sector 

entities are the same as those specified for general purpose financial reports (GPFRs)
1
: 

 

(a) Service recipients (taxpayers and other members of the community that benefit 

from the services provided by the government or other public sector entity, 

whether as a result of exchange or non-exchange transactions); and 

 

(b) Resource providers (―involuntary resource providers‖ such as taxpayers, and 

―voluntary resource providers‖ such as lenders, donors, suppliers, fee-for-service 

consumers and employees). 

 

18. Service recipients and their representatives require information as input to assessments 

of such matters as whether the range, volume and cost of services provided during the 

reporting period, and the amounts and sources of their cost recoveries, are appropriate 

and whether current levels of taxes or other charges are sufficient to maintain the 

volume and quality of services currently provided. They also require information 

about the entity’s anticipated future objectives, and the amounts and sources of cost 

recoveries necessary to support those activities. Financial statement discussion and 

analysis assists in providing users with more in-depth information about costs and 

revenue sources, such as taxes and other charges, to assist them in making such 

assessments.  

 

19. Resource providers require information as input to assessments of such matters as 

whether the entity is achieving the objectives established as the justification for the 

resources raised during the reporting period; funded current operations from funds 

raised in the current period from taxpayers or from borrowings or other sources; and is 

likely to need additional (or less) resources in the future, and the likely sources of 

those resources. Lenders and creditors require information as input to assessments of 

the liquidity of the entity and to confirm that the amount and timing of repayment will 

be as agreed. Financial statement discussion and analysis provides more detailed 

information about funding and resources. 

Characteristics of Information Contained in Financial Statement 

Discussion and Analysis 

20. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall include information that 

possesses the qualitative characteristics of general purpose financial reports 

identified in Conceptual Framework ED 1.  

                                                           
1
  The users of GPFRs are described in Conceptual Framework ED 1 (CF-ED 1), Conceptual Framework for 

General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities: Role, Authority and Scope; Objectives and 

Users; Qualitative Characteristics; and Reporting Entity. CF-ED1 is available at: 

http://ifac.org/Guidance/EXD-Details.php?EDID=0147 

http://ifac.org/Guidance/EXD-Details.php?EDID=0147
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21. Because financial statement discussion and analysis complements and supplements the 

financial statements, it should possess the same qualitative characteristics as for 

general purpose financial reports, namely: 

 

(a) Relevance; 

 

(b) Faithful representation;  

 

(c) Understandability; 

 

(d) Timeliness; 

 

(e) Comparability; and 

 

(f) Verifiability.  

 

22. The extent to which the qualitative characteristics can be achieved may differ 

depending on the degree of uncertainty and subjective assessment or opinion involved 

in compiling the financial and non-financial information. Further, in preparing 

financial statement discussion and analysis, all qualitative characteristics may not be 

fully achieved, and a balance or trade-off between certain of them may be necessary. 

 

23. In some cases, a balancing or trade-off between qualitative characteristics may be 

necessary to achieve the objectives of financial reporting. For example, there is often a 

trade-off between the timeliness of information and its reliability. Financial statement 

discussion and analysis should aim to achieve a balance between the qualitative 

characteristics to meet the objectives of providing the information. In some cases, 

depending on the circumstances of the entity, the relative importance of a particular 

qualitative characteristic may be greater than in others. 

 

24. Application of the qualitative characteristics to financial statement discussion and 

analysis is set out in paragraphs 23 to 56.  

Relevance 

25. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall include information about 

material financial statement items, transactions, and events presented in the 

financial statements that, in management’s view, are most relevant to 

understanding the entity’s financial statements. 

 

26. The matters that are important to an entity are also specific to that entity. For example, 

legislation or regulatory requirements may exist in a jurisdiction, which specify 

information that is required to be included in financial statement discussion and 

analysis. 
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27. Financial statement discussion and analysis needs to be concise to be useful, therefore 

management must select the most important, or material, matters to discuss. This 

means that some items that are material to the financial statements, notes, and other 

sections of the financial statements may not be discussed in the financial statement 

discussion and analysis. For example, a line-by-line analysis of the financial 

statements is not generally appropriate. Instead, financial statement discussion and 

analysis should summarize the most important items, explain the relevant causes and 

effects, and place them in context. Inclusion of information about immaterial items 

could make the more important information difficult to find. 

 

28. When dealing with qualitative or future-looking information (e.g., expectations about 

financial results in the future), it is not generally possible to specify a uniform 

quantitative threshold above which a particular type of information becomes material.  

 

29. Financial statement discussion and analysis provides management perspective and 

insights about the financial statements, which increases the relevance of the 

information. Financial and nonfinancial information is relevant if it is capable of 

making a difference in achieving the objectives of financial reporting. For financial 

statement discussion and analysis to be relevant it must pertain to the specific 

circumstances of the entity and add management’s insights.  

 

30. Management of an entity has the detailed knowledge of the transactions, events, and 

conditions reflected in the entity’s financial report and of the policies that govern the 

entity’s operations. For example, a discussion of the risks the entity faces would 

provide relevant information to users about exposure or vulnerability to concentrations 

(e.g., significant loans to particular regions or industries) or dependence on a particular 

source of revenue. In addition, a comparison of actual results to those budgeted 

provides information relevant for accountability purposes. 

 

31. When practicable, duplication of the disclosures made in the notes to its financial 

statements should be avoided. Reciting financial statement information without 

analysis, or presenting boilerplate discussions that do not provide insight into the 

entity’s past performance or prospects is unlikely to provide information that is 

relevant to users of the general purpose financial statements and may create an 

obstacle for users to identify and understand the most significant matters facing the 

entity. 

 

32. Generic or ―boilerplate‖ information that does not relate to the specific operations, 

practices and circumstances of the entity is unlikely to be relevant and should not be 

included in financial statement discussion and analysis. Likewise, information that 

simply repeats financial statement information or note disclosures in the financial 

statements without analysis or explanations that provide insight into the entity’s past 

performance or prospects is unlikely to be relevant to users and may, in fact, make it 

more difficult for users to understand the most significant matters the entity faces. For 

example, commentary on the economy that relates specifically to the financial 

statements would be relevant information for users. 
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Faithful representation 

33. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall be consistent with the financial 

statements and be unbiased. 

 

34. Faithful representation is attained when the depiction of the phenomenon is complete, 

neutral, and free from material error. To faithfully represent information in the 

underlying financial statements, information presented in financial statement 

discussion and analysis should be: 

 

(a) Based on, and consistent with, the underlying financial statements; and 

 

(b) Unbiased and balanced in discussing both positive and negative facts and views of 

management. 

 

35. It is important that information presented in the financial statement discussion and 

analysis is supported by information in the financial statements, and does not go 

beyond or contradict the information presented in the financial statements. 

 

36. Financial statement discussion and analysis should be consistent with its related 

financial statements in order to faithfully represent the information reported. For 

example, if the financial statements include segment information, the information 

presented in the management commentary should reflect that segmentation. 

 

37. Information that excludes certain facts (e.g., negative) is incomplete and thus could be 

biased (not neutral). In cases when financial statement discussion and analysis presents 

ratios, tables, or charts, they should not distort the information in the financial 

statements by, for example, using a scale that exaggerates a positive or negative trend. 

Understandability 

38. Information provided in financial statement discussion and analysis shall be clear 

and concise. 

 

39. Understandability is the quality of information that enables users to comprehend its 

meaning. Financial statement discussion and analysis complements and supplements 

the financial statements. It is intended to help users of the financial statements by 

explaining and interpreting the complex events and transactions in the financial 

statements in a readable, clear, and simple manner. Financial statement discussion and 

analysis is not understandable when it uses descriptions that are not too technical, does 

not provides excessive detail, or is clear in describing those events and transactions. 

Timeliness 

40. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall be issued at the same time as the 

financial statements. 

 

41. IPSAS 1 requires financial statements to be prepared at least annually. Thus, financial 

statement discussion and analysis should be prepared on the same frequency. 
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42. Timeliness means having information available for users before it loses its capacity to 

be useful for accountability and decision-making purposes. The usefulness of financial 

statement discussion and analysis is impaired if they are not made available to users 

within a reasonable period after the reporting date. An entity should be in a position to 

issue its financial statements within six months of the reporting date. Ongoing factors 

such as the complexity of an entity’s operations are not sufficient reason for failing to 

report on a timely basis. More specific deadlines are dealt with by legislation and 

regulations in many jurisdictions. 

 

43. Financial statement discussion and analysis relates to the current financial statements. 

In doing so, it may be useful in helping to predict future results by explaining 

significant changes and highlighting trends. Financial statement discussion and 

analysis may, for example, include an analysis of trends in financial performance that 

provides information that is useful beyond the date of the financial statement 

discussion and analysis. 

Comparability 

44. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall be presented on a basis 

consistent with that in prior years. 

 

45. Comparability is the quality of information that enables users to identify similarities 

in, and differences between, two sets of phenomena. It is not a quality of an individual 

item of information, but rather a quality of the relationship between two or more items 

of information. In some jurisdictions, comparisons with prior years’ results are 

required. Comparability is enhanced when the same principles and practices are used 

for each period for such items as determining ratios and preparation of tables and 

charts included in financial statement discussion and analysis. In addition, disclosure 

of those principles and practices, including underlying assumptions and formulae, is 

useful in interpreting the analyses. 

 

46. Paragraph 42 of IPSAS 1 requires the presentation and classification of items in the 

financial statements to be retained from one period to the next unless: 

 

(a) It is apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the entity’s operations 

or a review of its financial statements, that another presentation or classification 

would be more appropriate having regard to the criteria for the selection and 

application of accounting policies in IPSAS 3; or 

 

(b) An IPSAS requires a change in presentation. 

 

47. The same principle applies to financial statement discussion and analysis because it is 

based on the financial statements. Thus, changes in financial statement discussion and 

analysis presentation from the prior year would change in the circumstances noted in 

paragraph 46. 
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48. Enhancing the inter-period comparability of information assists users in making and 

evaluating decisions, especially by allowing the assessment of trends in financial 

information for predictive purposes. In some circumstances, it is impracticable to 

reclassify comparative information for a particular prior period to achieve 

comparability with the current period. For example, data may not have been collected 

in the prior period(s) in a way that allows reclassification, and it may not be 

practicable to recreate the information. 

Verifiability 

49. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall be based on currently-known 

facts, consistent with the financial information reported in the financial 

statements.  

 

50. Information in financial statement discussion and analysis is verifiable when it is 

based on: 

 

(a) Currently-known facts, decisions, or conditions; 

 

(b) Verifiable and supportable assumptions; and 

 

51. Verifiability is the quality of information that helps assure users that information in 

general purpose financial reports faithfully represents the phenomena that it purports 

to represent. In some cases it may not be possible to verify the accuracy of all 

qualitative and quantitative explanations of such information until a future period, if at 

all. For example, if the entity’s policy, strategy and risk management are included in 

financial statement discussion and analysis, such information would be less verifiable 

than, for example, a ratio calculated from information provided in the financial 

statements.  

 

52. Financial statement discussion and analysis complements and supplements the related 

financial statements for the reporting period. Accordingly, it is important that it 

contain information related to that reporting period. While the information provided in 

financial statement discussion and analysis may reflect information outside of the 

financial statements (e.g., economic indicators such as changes in the tax base or the 

employment base), that information should be related to the reporting period and 

should be from a reliable source. 

 

53. Verifiability of financial statement discussion and analysis is enhanced when the 

principles and practices used for such items as determining ratios and preparation of 

tables and charts included in financial statement discussion and analysis, including 

underlying assumptions and formulae used in the analyses are disclosed. In addition, 

the methodologies adopted in compiling it, and the factors and circumstances that 

support a discussion of management’s perspectives and analyses, should be 

transparent. Disclosure of this information permits users to assess the reliability of the 

information provided.  
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54. Assumptions should be mutually compatible. Assumptions are mutually compatible 

when they reflect economic relationships in the jurisdiction (e.g., interest rates, 

employment rates, GDP). For example, all assumptions that depend on the tax base for 

a given future period would assume the same tax base level in that period. 

 

55. Financial statement discussion and analysis should clearly describe the basis for how 

the information is reported, including the unit of measurement. For example, when 

financial statement discussion and analysis contains charts or graphs showing trends, 

disclosure of the unit of measurement is necessary to ensure such information can be 

properly interpreted. 

 

56. This Standard does not require the entity to disclose forward-looking information, 

such as forecasts or projections. However, management possesses informed 

expectations regarding the entity’s future operations based on its detailed knowledge 

of the entity’s current operations that may be relevant to users. For example, a 

summary or overview of the entity’s objectives, significant events and conditions that 

affected the financial statements (e.g., significant changes, unplanned events), 

provides the starting point for assessing the entity’s financial performance and trends 

for the future.  

 

57. For example, identification of the main events, trends, and factors influencing the 

current reporting period, may help identify potential impacts on future reporting 

periods by providing information about the entity’s intended actions. Forward-looking 

information is not a prediction of the future, but is intended to set out management’s 

objectives for the entity and its strategy for achieving those objectives.  

 

58. To ensure such information is not biased, disclosure is required of underlying methods 

and assumptions used to develop the information in such discussions.  

 

Content of Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis  

59. Financial statement discussion and analysis shall include, at a minimum: 

 

(a) An overview or summary; 

 

(b) A description of the nature of the entity’s operations; 

 

(c) Information about the entity’s financial risks and uncertainties, including its 

financial risk management strategy; 

 

(d) Information about the entity’s strategy;  

 

(e) A description of changes from prior year; and 

 

(f) An analysis of the financial statements. 
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60. Financial statement discussion and analysis provides a means of improving public 

sector entities’ accountability and decision making. Although the specific information 

contained in an entity’s financial statement discussion and analysis will vary 

depending on the facts and circumstances specific to the entity, certain essential 

elements are important to all financial statement discussion and analysis, as discussed 

below.  

 

61. When reporting at a whole-of-government level, it is necessary to report specific 

information by significant segment (e.g., geographic regions or industry such as 

agriculture, manufacturing, fishing, banking) or function (e.g., health, welfare, 

education, transportation, recreation, justice) to allow for a better understanding of the 

significant activities for which the entity is accountable. When the entity is not a 

government, the nature of the entity’s operations may be more homogeneous and 

readily apparent from the financial statements without reporting by segment. 

Overview 

62. The overview or summary provides an executive overview of the financial statements 

and outlines the significant events and activities that have affected those financial 

statements, without simply reiterating the information presented in the financial 

statements. It also includes a brief discussion of the purpose of, and information 

provided by, each of the financial statements and their interrelationships. In addition, 

this section of the financial statement discussion and analysis would describe the scope 

of the financial discussion and analysis when certain information is not presented on 

the same basis as the related financial statements (e.g., due to unavailability of 

information for the entire entity, or for the full reporting period of the financial 

statements). 

Nature of the entity’s operations 

63. The nature of the entity’s operations helps users to understand the entity and the 

environment in which it operates. For example, information about the entity’s 

operations may include: 

 

(a) The entity’s mission and vision. 

 

(b) An organization chart. 

 

(c) Trends, events and developments in the legal, regulatory, and macro-economic 

environment specific to the entity, which have or may have a material impact on the 

entity and its financial performance (e.g., the impact of a regional or international 

financial crisis on employment, the tax base, or interest rates in the jurisdiction). 

 

(d) A list of the organizations and segments comprising the entity being reported on 

(e.g., controlled entities, associates, jointly-controlled entities, and any significant 

changes).  
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(e) The entity’s main programs, services, service delivery methods (e.g., outsourcing, 

service concession arrangements) and significant changes in them. 

Financial risks and uncertainties 

64. Information about the entity’s risks and uncertainties helps users to evaluate the 

impact of risks currently (e.g., contingent liabilities reported in the financial 

statements) as well as expected outcomes. Information provided may include its main 

exposures to risk and changes in those risks, along with its policies and strategies for 

mitigating the risks. It may also include the entity’s evaluation of the effectiveness of 

its financial risk management strategies. Because financial risks and uncertainties may 

have a pervasive effect on the financial statements, discussion and analysis may be 

reported separately in the financial statement discussion and analysis, or in relevant 

sections throughout the report. Information about the entity’s financial risks and 

uncertainties may include a discussion of such matters as a summary of the entity’s 

investment policy and other means of managing its financial risks, insurance coverage 

(e.g., self-insurance), and other financial controls intended to safeguard financial 

assets. It may also include the relevant legislation, regulation or body that sets the 

financial risk management policies for the entity (e.g., when financial risks are 

managed at a government-wide level).  

 

65. As part of a balanced approach to reporting, the discussion would also consider any of 

the entity’s opportunities. It is noted however, that these would need to be fact-based 

and take into account currently-known conditions. In addition, underlying assumptions 

would need to be disclosed. 

 

66. A discussion of the entity’s financial risk management strategy helps users obtain a 

complete picture of the entity’s exposure to financial risks (i.e., those that directly 

affect financial statement items and disclosures), which allows them to evaluate the 

entity’s financial position and financial performance. Such disclosure may include the 

entity’s decision to ―self-insure‖, or to mitigate risk by transferring or sharing it, or 

through insurance.  

 

67. Additional information may be provided about uncertainties such as environmental 

issues, and significant events occurring subsequent to the reporting date, which may 

affect the entity’s future operations (e.g., debt issuance, guarantees issued in relation to 

a financial crisis or service concession arrangement). Information may also be 

provided about the entity’s opportunities; however in reporting such information, care 

must be taken to ensure it is fact-based, unbiased, and verifiable. This means, for 

example, that the assumptions made are based on conditions that exist at the reporting 

date and events that occurred in the current period.  

Changes from prior year 

68. Information about changes from the prior year, such as variance analysis and actual-to-

budget comparisons, is important in helping users to understand trends that may affect 

future resource requirements.  

 



IFAC IPSASB Meeting Agenda Paper 7.1 

September 2011 – Toronto, Canada  Page 16 of 35 
 

                                                                                              MJK August 2011 
 

69. Financial statement discussion and analysis may include quantitative analysis of 

significant variances between the prior year and current year, including assets, 

liabilities, revenues, and expenses. This allows users to assess the results of past 

events, and to understand the extent to which past performance may be indicative of 

future performance. 

70. Financial statement discussion and analysis should discuss both the positive and 

negative aspects of any significant variances that become apparent through a 

comparison of the budget to actual or through a comparison of prior year actual results 

to current year actual results. 

71. In some cases, a significant change may have occurred during the reporting period, but 

the financial statements and quantitative analyses my not illustrate a significant 

variance because of offsetting factors. Explanations contained in financial statement 

discussion and analysis may identify and explain significant variances between the 

current year and prior year such as variances due to changes in how a service is 

delivered, changes in programs and services provided, and changes due to the level of 

revenues raised or costs incurred. Some of these may be within the control of the 

entity (e.g., taxation rates, new or discontinued programs or services, restructuring 

operations, or changing the method of service delivery), while others may be more due 

to external factors (e.g., a downgraded credit rating, a decreased tax base, wage 

contracts, and unexpected events such as a natural disaster). Such explanations may 

assist users in assessing possible future changes in current services and commitments 

of the entity. 

 

72. In cases where the entity publishes its annual budget, the subsequent year’s budget 

may be published before the financial statement discussion and analysis is prepared. In 

such cases, it would be inappropriate to include explanations of any variances in the 

financial statement discussion and analysis; such changes would typically be reported 

in revised forecasts. In cases where the entity does not publish its annual budget, 

explanations of variances may be explained in financial statement discussion and 

analysis. In cases where the comparison of actual results to budget information is 

included in financial statement discussion and analysis, IPSAS 24, Presentation of 

Budget Information in Financial Statements, would require a cross-reference to the 

financial statement discussion and analysis. 

 

73. Paragraph 29(b) of IPSAS 24, Presentation of Budget Information in Financial 

Statements, requires that explanations of material differences between actual and 

budget amounts to be included in the notes to the financial statements, unless (a) 

included in other public reports or documents issued in conjunction with the financial 

statements, and (b) the notes to the financial statements identify the reports or 

documents in which the explanation can be found. When such explanations are 

provided in the financial statement discussion and analysis, they would be expected to 

go beyond an explanation of the differences, and provide greater analysis of the 

implications of such differences.  
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74. Information about changes from prior year also assists in understanding and assessing 

trends in the entity’s financial position and changes in financial position. For example: 

 

(a) Analysis of financial assets provides information regarding the amount of 

resources available to be converted to cash if necessary. In addition, specific 

ratios and analysis of cash flows may be useful to highlight liquidity. 

 

(b) Analysis of revenues by major source may indicate trends and dependencies on 

specific revenue sources (e.g., government business enterprises (GBEs), transfers, 

or royalties). 

 

(c) Analysis of expenses may demonstrate the entity’s allocation and use of 

resources, provide insight into the cost of programs and services, and assist in 

evaluating the cost of borrowing to finance spending. 

 

(d) Discussion of significant commitments, contingencies, and subsequent events 

assists users in assessing future revenue requirements of the entity. 

When such information is presented in a graphical format, the scale of such 

illustrations should be on a basis that faithfully represents the relationships of the items 

being analyzed.  

75. If information from the financial statements has been adjusted for inclusion in 

management commentary, that fact should be disclosed. If financial performance 

measures that are not required or defined by IPSASs are included within management 

commentary, those measures should be defined and explained, including an 

explanation of the relevance of the measure to users. When financial performance 

measures are derived or drawn from the financial statements, those measures should be 

reconciled to measures presented in the financial statements that have been prepared in 

accordance with IPSASs.In addition, narrative explanations of such illustrations may 

also be required to accurately and completely present the information. 

 

76. Analysis of significant trends assists users in gaining a better understanding of the 

entity’s financial position and financial performance in the reporting period, which can 

be used as a basis for assessing its future financial position and financial performance. 

In some cases, analyses may include forward-looking information. In such cases, 

supporting assumptions and formulae used in the analyses, as well as the 

methodologies adopted in compiling it should be disclosed. The assumptions used 

should be based on currently-known facts and circumstances and should be mutually 

consistent. 
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77. To present the most relevant information, trend analysis should provide information 

for several prior years if the information is available and can be presented in a 

consistent manner. The source of information related to periods not covered by the 

comparative information in the financial statements to which the financial statement 

discussion and analysis pertains should be disclosed. In cases where the presentation 

of the underlying financial statements has changed in accordance with paragraph 42 of 

IPSAS 1, the presentation of any information in the financial statement discussion and 

analysis based on the changed financial statements would also change. 

78. In some cases, historical information may not be readily available on which to base 

trend analyses for some or all of the entity’s operations. In such cases, the entity 

should do trend analysis with information it possesses that meets the qualitative 

characteristics and disclose in the financial statement discussion and analysis that 

historical information is not readily available. When the data is available for only part 

of the reporting entity, the financial statement discussion and analysis should clearly 

describe the scope of information including the fact that information related to certain 

activities is not available. 

79. Other changes may affect the trend analysis. For example, when a government 

restructures its operations or chooses an alternative method of service delivery, this 

may affect certain trends. In cases where such changes have significantly affected a 

trend, the entity should describe the reasons for the changes in the trend in the 

financial statement discussion and analysis.  

The entity’s financial statements 

80. Information about the entity’s financial statements would include information about 

the entity’s: 

(a) Financial position; 

(b) Financial performance; 

(c) Cash flows; and 

(d) Commitments, contingencies, and events after the reporting date. 

Transition 

81. The provisions of this Standard shall be applied from the date of first adoption of 

this Standard, except in relation to items that have not been recognized in the 

financial statements as a result of transitional provisions under another IPSAS. 

The provisions of this Standard would not be required to apply to such items 

until the transitional provision in the other IPSAS expires. Comparative 

information is not required to be included in financial statement discussion and 

analysis in respect of the financial statements to which accrual accounting is first 

adopted in accordance with IPSASs. 

82. Notwithstanding the existence of transitional provisions under another IPSAS, entities 

that are in the process of adopting the accrual basis of accounting for financial 

reporting purposes are encouraged to comply in full with the provisions of that other 

Standard as soon as possible. 
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Effective Date 

83. An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements covering 

periods beginning on or after MM DD, YYYY. Earlier application is encouraged. 

If an entity applies this Standard for a period beginning before MM DD, YYYY, 

it shall disclose that fact. 

 

84. When an entity adopts the accrual basis of accounting as defined by IPSASs for 

financial reporting purposes subsequent to this effective date, this Standard applies to 

the entity’s financial statement discussion and analysis covering periods beginning on 

or after the date of adoption. 

Appendix A  

Amendments to Other IPSASs 

IPSAS 24 Presentation of Financial Statements 

Paragraph 19 is amended as follows: 

1. Management Financial statement discussion and analysis, operations 

review, or other public reports that provide commentary on the 

performance and achievements of the entity during the reporting period, 

including explanations of any material differences from budget 

amounts, are often issued in conjunction with the financial statements. 

In accordance with paragraph 14(c) of this Standard, explanation of 

material differences between actual and budget amounts will be 

included in notes to the financial statements, unless (a) included in 

other public reports or documents issued in conjunction with the 

financial statements, and (b) the notes to the financial statements 

identify the reports or documents in which the explanation can be 

found. 
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Basis for Conclusions 

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS XX (ED48).  

Scope 

BC1. The IPSASB approved a project in March 2008 to address ―narrative reporting‖.  In 

developing this Standard, the IPSASB clarified that the scope of the project is to 

address only those reports that provide discussion and analysis specifically pertaining 

to an entity’s general purpose financial statements, and not broader types of reports 

that may be considered general purpose financial reports as envisaged in the IPSASB’s 

Conceptual Framework.  

BC2. The report is intended to address similar matters to reports that may be termed 

―management discussion and analysis‖ and ―management commentary‖ in various 

jurisdictions. The IPSASB did not consider those terms to accurately describe the 

nature of the report in relation to the financial statements. The IPSASB considers the 

term ―financial statement discussion and analysis‖ clearly defines the scope of 

applicability of this Standard and its close linkage to the financial statements. 

BC3. The IPSASB considered whether financial statement discussion and analysis should be 

mandatory for entities that prepare their financial statements in accordance with 

IPSASs. Many jurisdictions already require public sector entities to provide such 

reports. The IPSASB determined that financial statement discussion and analysis is an 

important tool for accountability and transparency because it enhances financial 

statement users’ understanding of the financial statements. The IPSASB concluded 

that financial statement discussion and analysis should be prepared by all entities that 

prepare their financial statements in accordance with IPSASs. 

BC4. The IPSASB also decided it was important to link financial statement discussion and 

analysis to the financial statements because the financial statement discussion and 

analysis is intended to complement and supplement the financial statements, and not to 

stand alone. 

Links to the IPSASB Conceptual Framework 

BC5. The objective of financial statement discussion and analysis is to complement and 

supplement an entity’s general purpose financial statements. The IPSASB concluded 

that the objective and users of financial statement discussion and analysis should be 

the same as those identified for general purpose financial reports in the IPSASB’s 

Conceptual Framework ED 1 (CF-ED 1). The IPSASB also concluded that the 

information in financial statement discussion and analysis should possess the 

qualitative characteristics constraints of general purpose financial reports. 

Accordingly, IPSAS XX (ED 48) contains requirements that financial statement 

discussion and analysis contain information that is consistent with the qualitative 

characteristics in CF-ED 1. It also contains specific requirements for each of the 

qualitative characteristics. The IPSASB is of the view that these additional 

requirements are necessary to provide a common basis for determining the information 

to be provided in financial statement discussion and analysis. 
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Content of financial statement discussion and analysis 

BC6. The IPSASB noted that the content and format of presentation of financial statement 

discussion and analysis should be determined by the entity, in a way that best reflects 

its circumstances, noting that the specific information contained in an entity’s financial 

statement discussion and analysis will vary depending on the facts and circumstances 

specific to the entity. The IPSASB wishes to avoid a checklist approach that may 

result in an entity reporting less relevant information. Accordingly, some flexibility is 

provided in the content and format. However, the Standard contains certain essential 

required content that is important to all financial statement discussion and analysis. 

BC7. This Standard contains non-mandatory implementation guidance and an illustrative 

example to illustrate the types of information that may be provided to comply with the 

presentation requirements. In developing the Standard, the IPSASB weighed the need 

for flexibility against the need for comparability among entities. The IPSASB 

considered the view that there is a risk that undue emphasis could be placed on the 

implementation guidance in applying the presentation principles. Furthermore, the 

Board observed that such guidance or examples could be misinterpreted and thus 

reduce the flexibility in applying the Standard. On balance, the IPSASB concluded 

that providing high-level implementation guidance, and not detailed illustrative 

examples, best meets the need for consistent reporting among entities while still 

providing sufficient flexibility to tailor the report to an entity’s specific circumstances.  

Forward-looking information 

BC8. This Standard does not require the entity to disclose forward-looking information, 

such as forecasts or projections. However, the IPSASB concluded that forward-

looking information could provide useful information in interpreting an entity’s 

financial statements, and has thus provided guidance on how such information should 

be included in financial statement discussion and analysis. For example, information 

about an entity’s financial risk management policies, and trend analyses of significant 

financial statement items, may assist users in assessing the extent to which resources 

will be available to support future service delivery objectives and the amounts and 

timing of future cash flows necessary to service and repay existing claims to the 

entity’s resources. To ensure such information satisfies the qualitative characteristics, 

the methods and assumptions underlying the preparation of such information is 

required to be disclosed. 
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Implementation Guidance 

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS XX (ED 48).  

The purpose of this Implementation Guidance is to illustrate certain aspects of the 

requirements of IPSAS XX (ED 48). 

IG1. Paragraph 20 requires financial statement discussion and analysis to include 

information about all material financial statement items, transactions, and events 

presented in the financial statements that are most relevant to the entity’s 

circumstances. This Implementation Guidance includes guidance on the type of 

information an entity may provide in its discussion and analysis to satisfy that 

requirement. 

Financial Position 

IG2. Information about the financial position of a government or other public sector entity 

will enable users to identify the resources of the entity that can be used to provide 

particular services in future periods and claims to those resources at the reporting date. 

This will provide information useful as input to assessments of such matters as: 

•  The extent to which management has discharged its responsibilities for safekeeping 

and managing the resources of the entity; 

•  The extent to which resources are available to support future service delivery 

objectives; and 

•  The amounts and timing of future cash flows necessary to service and repay 

existing claims to the entity’s resources. 

Financial assets 

IG3. Financial statement discussion and analysis may include the following information 

pertaining to an entity’s financial assets: 

(a) Changes in financial assets to illustrate volatility in the sources of funds; 

(b) Provisions for loan losses; 

(c) The rates of return on investment;  

(d) Composition of investments; 

(e) A government's investment in GBEs as a percentage of the total financial assets; 

(f) Taxes receivable to total tax revenues; and 

(g) Restricted and designated assets set aside for specific purposes. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

IG4.  Financial statement discussion and analysis may include the following information 

pertaining to an entity’s property, plant and equipment: 
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(a)  An analysis of required maintenance, including future expenditure requirements 

for maintenance and replacement, to allow users to make informed decisions 

regarding the ability of the capital assets to sustain and provide services in the 

future; 

(b)  An analysis of the change in the net book value of tangible capital assets by major 

category for the last five years; and 

(c)   An explanation of what the net book value and changes in it mean; for example, a 

description of why the net book value has increased or decreased is useful in 

understanding asset replacement and usage. 

Other Assets 

IG5.  Financial statement discussion and analysis may include the following information 

pertaining to an entity’s other assets, to the extent they are material (e.g., inventories 

of supplies—see IPSAS 12, Inventories, and prepaid expenses): 

 (a)  The nature, extent and purpose of inventories of supplies (e.g., maintenance 

materials, strategic stockpiles, and land/property held for resale); and 

(b)   The nature, extent, purpose, and timing of any prepaid items such as insurance. 

Liabilities  

IG6.  Financial statement discussion and analysis may include the following information 

pertaining to an entity’s liabilities: 

(a) A breakdown of the entity's debt by domestic issues versus foreign issues. 

(b) A description of the entity's debt management policies and strategies, and the 

general terms and conditions associated with the debt, including whether the 

entity has complied with any debt covenants. 

(c) An analysis of the entity's total debt. Specific ratios or indicators may also be 

useful to highlight the magnitude of the entity’s debt and the changes in it over 

time. For example, an analysis of the total debt outstanding at year end to the total 

liabilities of the entity may be provided. The impact of the debt servicing cost, 

expressed as public debt charges to revenues, may also be included. An 

assessment of any unfunded retirement and other employment or post 

employment benefit liabilities. This may include a discussion related to the timing 

of when the unfunded liability needs to be provided for. 

(d) An analysis of revenues that are not earned at the end of the period including the 

terms and conditions (e.g., commitments) associated with them. The entity is not 

entitled to these revenues until it performs specific actions as outlined in the terms 

and conditions of the related contract or agreement. For example, in the case of 

service concession arrangements in which the operator is compensated by the 

entity granting it the right to earn third-party revenues, there may be substantial 

liabilities of this type. 

(e) The nature of financial liabilities under service concession arrangements. 
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(f) An analysis of any sinking funds available for the discharge of long-term 

liabilities. 

Liabilities  

IG7.   An analysis of net assets/equity provides users with information relevant in assessing 

the entity's overall financial position, and whether it has improved or deteriorated. 

Providing significant explanations and a trend analysis related to the net assets/equity 

provides users with an indication as to whether the entity’s liabilities are growing and 

allows them to make assessments about whether current levels of taxes or other 

charges are sufficient to maintain the volume and quality of services currently 

provided or to undertake any planned enhancements. For example, explanations and a 

trend analysis related to the assets/equity may indicate to users that while debt is 

growing, the entity is accumulating resources, such as property, plant and equipment. 

Statement of Financial Performance 

IG8.  Information about the financial performance of a government or other public sector 

entity will inform assessments of matters such as whether the entity has acquired 

resources economically, and used them efficiently and effectively to achieve its 

service delivery objectives. Information about the costs of service delivery and the 

amounts and sources of cost recovery during the reporting period will enable users to 

determine whether operating costs were recovered from, for example, taxes, user 

charges, contributions and transfers or were financed by increasing the level of 

indebtedness of the entity. 

IG9. Any currently-known conditions that have significantly affected revenues or expenses 

in the current period, as well as those that may impact future revenues or expenses, 

should be disclosed to assist users in determining trends. 

Revenues 

IG10.  Financial statement discussion and analysis may include the following information 

pertaining to an entity’s revenues: 

(a) An overview of total revenues by major source to indicate trends and 

dependencies on specific sources.  

(b) Ratios may also be provided to highlight the level of dependence the entity has on 

particular sources of revenues, for example: 

(i)   Public-to-public transfers to revenues generated by the entity (e.g., taxes, user 

fees, licences); and 

(ii)  Revenues generated by the entity as a percentage of total revenues. 

(c)  The impact of GBE activities on the entity as a whole, which may be relevant 

especially if there are restrictions placed on the use of a GBE’s net assets. 

(d)  An analysis of the change in revenues by major source. 
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Expenses 

IG11. Financial statement discussion and analysis may include the following information 

pertaining to an entity’s expenses: 

(a) An overview of total expenses by nature (e.g., depreciation, purchases of 

materials, transport costs, employee benefits, and advertising costs). 

(b) An overview of total expenses by function. 

(c) An analysis of debt servicing costs as a percentage of total expenditures, which 

helps to highlight the magnitude of expenses that is required to service past 

obligations and thus reduces the amount of funds that can be directed to various 

programs. Alternatively, debt servicing costs as a percentage of revenues could be 

provided. 

(d) An analysis of significant changes in expenses by nature and function. 

Surplus or Deficit for the Period 

IG12. An analysis of the surplus or deficit for the period provides users with information 

relevant in determining whether the entity was able to raise enough revenues in the 

period to cover its costs and spending and whether the trend is likely to continue in the 

future. 

IG13. Financial statement discussion and analysis may include the following information 

pertaining to an entity’s surplus or deficit for the period: 

(a) An analysis of net revenues or expenses by nature (for example, depreciation, 

purchases of materials, transport costs, employee benefits, and advertising costs); 

 

(b) A comparison of direct / identifiable program revenues to expenses by function, 

to illustrate the amount of program spending funded through taxation; and 

 

(c) Analyses of specific, significant non-recurring transactions or events such as: 

 

(i) Write-downs of inventories to net realizable value or of property, plant, and 

equipment to recoverable amount or recoverable service amount as 

appropriate, as well as reversals of such write-downs; 

 

(ii) Restructurings of the activities of an entity and reversals of any provisions 

for the costs of restructuring; 

 

(iii) Disposals of items of property, plant, and equipment; 

 

(iv) Privatizations or other disposals of investments; 

 

(v) Discontinuing operations; 

 

(vi) Litigation settlements; and 
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(vii) Other reversals of provisions. 

 

In these cases, the nature of the revenue or expense and a discussion of its impact 

on future operations would be disclosed. 

Cash flows 

IG14. Information about the cash flows of a government or other public sector entity 

contributes to assessments of financial performance and the entity’s liquidity and 

solvency. It indicates how the entity raised and used cash during the period, including 

its borrowing and repayment of borrowing and its acquisition and sale of, for example, 

property, plant, and equipment. It also identifies the cash received from, for example, 

taxes and investments and the cash transfers made to, and received from, other 

governments, government agencies or international organizations. Information about 

cash flows can also support assessments of the entity’s compliance with spending 

mandates expressed in cash flow terms, and inform assessments of the likely amounts 

and sources of cash inflows needed in future periods to support service delivery 

objectives. 

IG15. Financial statement discussion and analysis may include the following information 

pertaining to an entity’s cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities: 

(a) An analysis of the cash flows arising from operating activities such as: 

(i) The gross cash receipts and payments arising from the normal operations of 

the entity (e.g., the gross cash receipts from taxation, user fees or transfers 

from other entities).  

(ii) Significant cash requirements or payments made during the period (e.g., 

payments to and on behalf of employees). 

(b) An analysis of cash flows arising from investing activities such as: 

(i) Expenditures made to acquire resources (e.g., property, plant and equipment, 

investment property, and intangible assets) intended to generate future cash 

flows  and service potential; and 

(ii) Significant changes in such investments, including any additions or disposals 

during the current year  

(c) An analysis of financing activities, which provides information relevant in 

assessing future cash flow requirements due to debt financing arrangements. This 

analysis may highlight cash proceeds from debt issues or redemptions. It may also 

highlight significant changes in capital leases. Further, it may be helpful in 

explaining the need for borrowing even though the entity has reported a surplus in 

its statement of operations. 

(d) Analysis of whether the entity has complied with any spending mandates 

expressed in cash flow terms. 

(e) Trend analyses of operating, investing and financing cash flows, or components 

thereof. 



IFAC IPSASB Meeting Agenda Paper 7.1 

September 2011 – Toronto, Canada  Page 27 of 35 
 

                                                                                              MJK August 2011 
 

Commitments, Contingencies, and Events after the Reporting Date  

IG16. Where they are significant to the entity, information may be required pertaining to 

events occurring after the reporting date and planned future events, such as those 

described in paragraph IG13(c), but which did not occur in the reporting period, and 

are therefore not reflected in the entity’s financial statements. Such information assists 

users in assessing future revenue requirements of the entity.   

IG17.  Financial statement discussion and analysis may include the following additional 

information: 

(a) A subsequent issue of debenture debt; 

(b) Litigation;  

(c) Capital and operating leases;  

(d) Service concession arrangements; and 

(e) Various types of guarantees. 

 Although such disclosures are required to be provided in the notes to the financial 

statements in accordance with various IPSASs, further elaboration of such transactions 

and events may be necessary to provide greater insight as to how such events may 

affect the entity's future operations. 

  



IFAC IPSASB Meeting Agenda Paper 7.1 

September 2011 – Toronto, Canada  Page 28 of 35 
 

                                                                                              MJK August 2011 
 

Illustrative Example 

These examples accompany, but are not part of, IPSAS XX (ED 48). 

The purpose of these examples is to illustrate the information that an entity may include in its 

financial statement discussion and analysis.  This example is one illustration of how an entity 

could meet the requirements set out in this Standard. However, this illustration is not intended to 

be a template for financial statement discussion and analysis. Entities are encouraged to report 

financial statement discussion and analysis in a way that best informs readers about their own 

specific circumstances. 

 

Public Sector Entity 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

This section of Public Sector Entity’s annual financial report presents our discussion and analysis of 

the entity’s financial position and performance during the year ended December 31, 20X2 [if the 

entity is required to provide financial statement discussion and analysis by way of legislation or 

regulation, it may state the relevant requirements here]. It should be read together with the entity’s 

financial statements for that period. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

Our report consists of the financial statement discussion and analysis (this section) and the financial 

statements. The financial statements consist of: 

• A Statement of Financial Position – which provides information about the accumulated 

deficit—the difference between the Government’s total liabilities and total assets. It 

provides information about: 

 The extent to which resources are available to support the Entity’s future service 

delivery objectives; and 

 The amounts and timing of future cash flows necessary to service and repay existing 

claims to the Entity’s resources 

 

• A Statement of Financial Performance  which measures the net surplus or deficit— the 

difference between revenues and expenses. It provides information about: 

 Costs of service delivery; and  

 The amounts and sources of cost recovery (e.g., through taxes, user charges, 

contributions and transfers, or by increasing the level of indebtedness)  

The annual surplus or deficit is presented on an accrual basis of accounting, recognizing 

revenue in the period it is earned and expenses when incurred, regardless of when the 

associated cash is received or paid.  

• A Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity – which highlights the sources of changes in The 

Entity’s overall financial position, including: 

 Gains and losses that directly affect The Entity’s total assets less liabilities; 

 Changes due to the surplus or deficit for the period. 
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• A Cash Flow Statement
2
  which provides information about The Entity’s liquidity and solvency, 

including: 

 How the entity raised and used cash during the period, including its borrowing and 

repayment of borrowing and its acquisition and sale of, for example, property, plant, 

and equipment; and  

 The cash received through taxes and investments and the cash transfers made to, and 

received from, other governments, government agencies and international 

organizations. 

In contrast to the Statement of Financial Performance, The Entity’s net cash flow 

measures the difference between cash coming in to the Entity and cash going out. 

 

Financial Highlights 

• Overall, net assets increased by CU 142,250,000 (17%), mainly due to an increase in the surplus 

for the period. 

• The Entity’s total current assets decreased by CU 13,860 (2%). This resulted from a 

decrease of CU 10,500,000 (2%) in its most liquid assets—cash and cash equivalents and 

receivables, which was offset by a increases in inventories and other current assets. 

Current liabilities decreased by CU 139,320 (30%). The entity’s short-term liquidity, as 

measured by the change in current assets – current liabilities, improved by CU 

125,460,000. 

• The increase in the 20X2 surplus over the 20X1 surplus of CU 55,750,000 (85%) was largely due 

to increased revenues from taxes, fees and transfers from other governments, as well as modest 

decreases in overall expenses for the period of CU 6,383,000 (2%). The Entity introduced 

measures to reduce costs during 20X2, and it is expected that for 20X3 further cost savings will 

be realized. 

• The Entity’s long-term borrowing position improved overall by CU 40,000,000 (25%). 

Its total liabilities, which are a claim on future resources, also decreased by 

CU 199,950,000 (29%).  

• According to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 

The Entity’s total government debt-to-GDP ratio stood at 28.9 percent in 20X2. This is 

the lowest level amongst G7 countries, which the OECD estimates will record, on 

average, a debt-to-GDP ratio of 60.3 percent for that same year.  

• The growth in tax revenues of CU 18,700,000 (9%) was mainly due to the increase in 

personal tax revenues, which was caused by strong growth in wages and employment 

during the year. Recent data published by The Entity’s Statistics Department suggests 

that this growth will not continue due to lower employment figures and wage increases 

resulting from a weakening economy. 

  

                                                           
2
  To be developed from IPSAS 2. 
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Financial Statement Information on which the Financial Statement Discussion and 

Analysis is Based 

In this example, monetary amounts are denominated in “currency units” (CU). 

Public Sector Entity—Statement of Financial Position 

As at December 31, 20X2 

(in thousands of currency units) 

 

    20X2  20X1 

ASSETS    CU  CU 

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents    312,400  322,900 

Receivables    91,600  110,800 

Inventories    135,230  132,500 

Other current assets    25,650  12,540 

    564,880  578,740 

Non-current assets       

Property, plant, and equipment    350,700  360,020 

Intangible assets    227,470  227,470 

Service concession assets    80,800  91,200 

Investments in associates    100,150  110,770 

Other financial assets    142,500  156,000 

    901,620  945,460 

Total assets    1,466,500  1,524,200 

       

LIABILITIES       

Current liabilities       

Payables     115,100  187,620 

Short-term borrowings    150,000  200,000 

Current portion of long-term 

borrowings 

   10,000  20,000 

Short-term provisions    35,000  42,000 

Employee benefits     5,000  4,800 

    315,100  454,420 

Non-current liabilities       

Long-term borrowings    120,000  160,000 

Long-term provisions    28,850  52,240 

Employee benefits    28,800  26,040 

    177,650  238,280 
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    20X2  20X1 

Total liabilities    492,750  692,700 

Net assets    973,750  831,500 

       

NET ASSETS/EQUITY       

Capital contributed by:       

Other government entities    625,000  590,000 

Accumulated surpluses/(deficits)    267,900  170,900 

Reserves    10,800  20,000 

Minority interest    70,050  48,600 

Total net assets/equity    973,750  831,500 
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Public Sector Entity—Statement of Financial Performance for the Year 

Ended December 31, 20X2  

(Classification of Expenses by Function) 

(in thousands of currency units) 

   20X2  20X1 

Revenue      

Taxes   229,800  211,100 

Fees, fines, penalties, and licenses   89,400  80,600 

Transfers from other government entities   56,400  50,700 

Revenue from exchange transactions   14,400  12,600 

Other revenue    20,667  11,300 

Total Revenue   410,667  366,300 

      

Expenses      

General public services   (20,000)  (21,000) 

Defense   (145,000)  (135,000) 

Public order and safety   (100,000)  (95,000) 

Education   (22,000)  (39,500) 

Health   (18,500)  (22,000) 

Social protection   (2,600)  (2,500) 

Housing and community amenities   (2,000)  (1,900) 

Recreational, cultural, and religion   (2,100)  (1,800) 

Economic affairs   (2,000)  (1,800) 

Environmental protection   (2,000)  (2,700) 

Other expenses   (317)  (200) 

Finance costs   (8,000)  (7,500) 

Total Expenses   324,517  330,900 

Share of surplus of associates   35,100  30,100 

Surplus/(deficit) for the period   121,250  65,500 

      

Attributable to:      

Owners of the controlling entity   97,000  52,400 

Minority interests   24,250  13,100 

   121,250  65,500 
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Public Sector Entity—Statement of Financial Performance for the Year Ended 

December 31, 20X2 

(Illustrating the Classification of Expenses by Nature) 

(in thousands of currency units) 

   20X2  20X1 

Revenue      

Taxes   229,800  211,100 

Fees, fines, penalties, and licenses   89,400  80,600 

Revenue from exchange transactions   56,400  50,700 

Transfers from other government entities   14,400  12,600 

Other revenue   20,667  11,300 

Total Revenue   410,667  366,300 

      

Expenses      

Wages, salaries, and employee benefits   (115,100)  (107,900) 

Grants and other transfer payments   (24,417)  (17,000) 

Supplies and consumables used    (96,000)  (92,000) 

Employee benefits expense   (45,000)  (43,000) 

Depreciation and amortization expense   (19,000)  (17,000) 

Impairment of property, plant, and equipment   (4,000)   

Other expenses   (6,000)  (5,500) 

Finance costs   (15,000)  (18,000) 

Restructuring costs     (30,500) 

Total Expenses   324,517  330,900 

Share of surplus of associates   35,100  30,100 

Surplus/(deficit) for the period   121,250  65,500 

      

Attributable to:      

Owners of the controlling entity   97,000  52,400 

Minority interests   24,250  13,100 

   121,250  65,500 
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Public Sector Entity—Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity for the Year Ended December 31, 20X2 

(in thousands of currency units) 
Attributable to owners of the controlling entity 

Minority 
interest 

Total net 
assets/ 
equity  

Contribut
ed Capital 

Other 
Reserves 

Translatio
n Reserve 

Accumulat
ed 

Surpluses/ 
(Deficits) Total 

Balance at December 31, 20X0 600,000 3,600 (4,000) 118,100 717,700 29,800 747,500 

Changes in accounting policy           400        400      100        500 

Restated balance 600,000 3,600 (4,000) 118,500 718,100 29,900 748,000 

Changes in net assets/equity 
for 20X1 

       

Gain on property revaluation  2,160   2,160 540 2,700 

Gain on revaluation of 
investments 

 16,000   16,000 4,000 20,000 

Exchange differences on 
translating foreign operations 

  6,400  6,400 1,600 8,000 

Cash flow hedges  (2,400)   (2,400) (600) (3,000) 

Actuarial gains (losses on 
defined benefit plans) 

 800   800 200 1,000 

Share of net revenue of 
associates recognized directly in 
net assets/equity 

 (560)   (560) (140) (700) 

Net revenue recognized directly 
in net assets/equity 

 16,000 6,400  22,400 5,600 28,000 

Surplus for the period    52,400 52,400 13,100 65,500 

Total recognized revenue and 
expense for the period 

 16,000 6,400 52,400 74,800 18,700 93,500 

Distributions to owners (10,000)      (10,000) 

Balance at December 31, 20X1 
carried forward 

590,000 19,600 2,400 170,900 782,900 48,600 831,500 
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(in thousands of currency units) 
Attributable to owners of the controlling entity 

Minority 
interest 

Total net 
assets/ 
equity  

Contribut
ed Capital 

Other 
Reserves 

Translatio
n Reserve 

Accumulat
ed 

Surpluses/ 
(Deficits) Total 

Balance at December 31, 20X1 
carried forward 

590,000 19,600 2,400 170,900 782,900 48,600 831,500 

Changes in net assets/equity 
for 20X2 

       

Gain on property revaluation  480   480 120 600 

Gain on revaluation of 
investments 

 (14,400)   (14,400) (3,600) (18,000) 

Exchange differences on 
translating foreign operations 

  3,200  3,200 800 4,000 

Cash flow hedges  (400)   (400) (100) (500) 

Actuarial gains (losses on 
defined benefit plans) 

 (400)   (400) (100) (500) 

Share of net revenue of 
associates recognized directly in 
net assets/equity 

 320   320 80 400 

Net revenue recognized directly 
in net assets/equity 

 (14,400) 3,200  (11,200) (2,800) (14,000) 

Surplus for the period    97,000 97,000 24,250 121,250 

Total recognized revenue and 
expense for the period 

 (14,400) 3,200 97,000 85,800 21,450 107,250 

Contributions from owners 50,000    50,000  50,000 

Distributions to owners (15,000)    (15,000)  (15,000) 

Balance at December 31, 20X2 625,000 5,200 5,600 267,900 903,700 70,050 973,750 
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Introduction 
 
Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts (SFFAC) 3 and Statement of 
Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 15 provide guidance and requirements 
for management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) in federal agency financial reports.  
The standards call for management to present a frank and concise analysis of 
performance and financial results.  
 
The MD&A should provide management’s view of actual current performance and 
financial results as well as expectations about the future. It should be grounded in facts 
and provide meaningful explanatory data rather than be a series of vague and/or 
generally positive statements or vignettes about the entity’s successes. The MD&A 
should present a balanced discussion of negative as well as positive results, and it 
should relate financial results, especially costs, to performance and both to strategic 
goals.  
 
The MD&A should be more than a compliance exercise it should be a communication 
vehicle.  It should be concise, meaningful, and readily understandable. In addition to 
explaining why financial results changed during the reporting period, MD&A should 
explain how performance did or did not achieve planned results. To the extent the 
results have been affected by any change in the underlying goals or performance 
measures, the nature and effects of such changes upon the outcomes should also be 
discussed. 
 
However, current federal MD&A generally tend not to meet expectations established in 
SFFAC 3 and SFFAS 15. They typically do not effectively summarize and communicate 
entity performance and financial results.  For example: 
 

• There is often excessive narrative description, rather than concise information 
focused on the “vital few” matters envisioned by the standards.  Program 
vignettes are often offered in place of concise analysis. 

• Large numbers of performance measures are often included, rather than a 
limited number of key measures that clearly communicate how well the entity is 
achieving its goals and objectives. Numerous internal, operational measures are 
often presented whose relationship to the “vital few” entity goals is unclear, and 
which are not meaningful to external users unfamiliar with the intricacies of daily 
internal operations. Again, the goal should be to present a balanced discussion 
of performance. 

• Discussion of the financial statements is often limited to noting changes in 
account balances during the reporting period, which are fairly obvious on the face 
of the financial statements, rather than explaining the reasons for the changes in 
balances and financial results.  Also, significant variances from the budget are 
often not identified or explained. 
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In addition, charts, graphs, photographs and other pertinent graphics are often used and 
when effectively designed and presented, can significantly enhance the quality of the 
MD&A.  However, in many instances their full potential is not realized due to 
shortcomings in their presentation such as use of (1) excessively small text fonts or 
photographs, (2) shading that obscures the text it is intended to highlight, and (3) overly 
ambitious charts and graphs that attempt to present too much information and thereby 
become very difficult to understand. 
 
These issues have contributed to a perception that the MD&A in federal financial reports, 
as currently presented, is not as useful as was originally envisioned.   
 
It should be noted that the federal government is not alone in questioning the decision-
usefulness of financial reports. Much has been written about the need to improve the 
decision-usefulness of financial reports, especially regarding forward-looking 
information. There is a general call for concise reports with less reiteration of innocuous 
data and more discussion about the future.    
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
By providing examples of “best practices” from current federal MD&A, this report is 
intended to help preparers of federal MD&A achieve the objectives of the standards and 
avoid some of the pitfalls that in the past have prevented these MD&A’s from achieving 
their full potential as a vehicle to effectively communicate important information about 
the entity’s mission, operations, goals, challenges, financial results, and future. This 
report provides examples of selected sections of certain federal fiscal year 2009 MD&As 
which the Accounting and Auditing Policy Committee (AAPC) believes effectively 
captured the letter and spirit of the key elements of the standards. They provide 
excellent examples of how these standards were intended to be implemented. 
 
Structure of this Report 
 
This report is the product of a federal task group under the auspices of the AAPC.1 The 
AAPC is a permanent committee established by the FASAB.  The AAPC’s mission is to 
assist the federal government in improving financial reporting by timely identifying, 
discussing, and recommending solutions to accounting issues within the framework of 
existing authoritative literature. 
 
This report provides ideas for improving federal MD&A.  The techniques and practices 
used to implement the current and past performance initiatives that are discussed in this 
document are not mandatory guidance.  They should be viewed as useful examples of 
techniques for MD&A to better communicate essential information about the entity’s 
operations.  
 
The report is organized by the four MD&A section indicated in SFFAS 15 as follows:  
 
                                                 

1 See Appendix 2 for a list of the task group members. 
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• MISSION AND ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE;  
• PERFORMANCE GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND RESULTS; 
•  
•  
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es were selected and provides Web links to their FY 2009 financial reports 
that includes their MD&A. 
 

Table 1 – Agency Examples by MD&A Section 

• ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND STEWARDSHIP 
INFORMATION SECTION; and  

• ANALYSIS OF SYSTEMS, CONTROLS AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE.  
 
The following table lists the federal agencies from whose MD&A sections examples of 
best practic

MD&A Section Agency 
Example of 

Best 
Practice 

AAPC 
Rpt. 
Page 
No. 

Web Link to PAR or AFR containing the MD&A 

Commerce 7 http://www.osec.doc.gov/bmi/budget/FY09PAR.html 
Defense 13 http://comptroller.defense.gov/afr/index.html 

Overview 

VA 15 http://www4.va.gov/budget/report 
Defense 20 http://comptroller.defense.gov/afr/index.html 
FTC 25 http://ftc.gov/opp/gpra/index.shtm 
NASA 30 http://www.nasa.gov/news/budget/index.html 

Mission and 
Organization 

PTO 35 http://www.uspto.gov/about/stratplan/index.jsp 
Commerce 38 http://www.osec.doc.gov/bmi/budget/FY09PAR.html 
Defense 39 http://comptroller.defense.gov/afr/index.html 
EPA 46 http://www.epa.gov/ocfo/par/2009par/index.htm 
FAA 48 http://www.faa.gov/about/plans_reports 
GSA 50 http://www.gsa.gov/portal/category/26534 
Justice 50 http://www.justice.gov/ag/annualreports/pr2009/Tabl

eofContents.htm 
VA 51 http://www4.va.gov/budget/report 

Performance 
goals, Objectives, 
And Results 

FHFA 53 http://www.fhfa.gov/Default.aspx?Page=136 
Energy 56 http://www.energy.gov/about/budget.htm 
GSA 58 http://www.gsa.gov/portal/category/26534 
FAA 58 http://www.faa.gov/about/plans_reports 

Analysis of 
Financial 
Statements and 
Stewardship SBA 65 http://www.sba.gov/aboutsba/budgetsplans/SERV_A

BTSBA_BUDGET_2009AFR.html 
GSA 68 http://www.gsa.gov/portal/category/26534 
PTO 70 http://www.uspto.gov/about/stratplan/index.jsp 

Analysis of 
Systems, Controls 
and Legal 
Compliance USDA 74 http://www.ocfo.usda.gov/usdarpt/usdarpt.htm 

FHFA 80 http://www.fhfa.gov/Default.aspx?Page=136 
USPS 82 http://www.usps.com/financials/ar/welcome.htm 
PTO 85 http://www.uspto.gov/about/stratplan/index.jsp 

Forward-looking 
Information 

VA 89 http://www4.va.gov/budget/report 
 
 
 
DISCLAIMER 
 
The examples of best practices included in this report have been reproduced verbatim 
from agency fiscal year 2009 Management Discussions and Analysis.  The AAPC is not 
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responsible for any factual, editorial, or other errors they may contain.  They are 
tended to provide users with illustrative examples of the basic form and content of the in

various sections of the MD&A as they may appear when prepared as intended by the 
standards.

6 
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D&A OVERVIEW 
 
In add nclude 
a brief MD&A. An overview section gives 
the rea  an overview or 
execu al structure” section of the MD&A.  
 
The fo xamples of overview or executive summary “best practices”.  

 
Comm

M

ition to the MD&A sections explicitly mentioned in SFFAS 15, MD&A may i
 overview or executive summary explaining the 
der a useful summary of what is to come. Some agencies include

tive summary in the “mission and organization

llowing are e
 

erce Department 

llowing is from the Commerce Department’s introductory material for FY 2009
 
The fo
which  provides an overview.  

THE DEPARTMENT AT LARGE 
 

2, 
precedes the MD&A, and

 

HISTORY AND ENABLING LEGISLATION 
The Department of Commerce was originally established by Congressional 
Act on February 14, 1903 as the Department of Commerce and Labor (32 
Stat. 826; 5 U.S.C. 591) and was subsequently renamed the U.S. Department 
of Commerce by President William H. Taft on March 4, 1913 (15 U.S.C. 
Section 1512). The defined role of the new Department was “to foster, 
promote, and develop the foreign and domestic commerce, the mining, 
manufacturing, and fishery industries of the United States.” 

 
MISSION 
The Department of Commerce creates the conditions for economic growth and 
opportunity by promoting innovation, entrepreneurship, competitiveness, and 
stewardship.  

 
PROGRAM BUREAUS 

• Economic Development Administration (EDA) 
• Economic Statistics Administration (ESA) 

o Bureau of Economic Analysis 
o Census Bureau 

• International Trade Administration 
• Bureau of Industry and Security 
• Minority Business Development Agency 
• Patent and Trademark Office 
• National Institute of Standards and Technology 
• National Telecommunication and Information Administration 
• National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 

                                                 
2 For the referenced agency’s financial report (and MD&A), see Table 1 above.  



MD&A Best Practices – Overview 

 
STRATEGIC GOALS 
Goal 1: Maximize U.S. competitiveness and enable economic growth for 
American industries, workers, and consumers 
Goal 2: Promote U.S. innovation and industrial competitiveness 
Goal 3: Promote environmental stewardship 
Management Integration Goal: Achieve organizational and management 
excellence 

 
EMPLOYEES 
As of September 30, 2009, the Department had approximately 54,400 
employees. The size of the Department will fluctuate in the next three years 
depending on the needs of the Census Bureau, growing to more than 140,000 
employees in FY 2010. 
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In the first several pages of the MD&A , the Commerce Department provides additional 

ighlights as follows. 

 

h
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Defense Department  
 
In its FY 2009 MD&A, the Defense Department presents an effective summary of a 
complex organization as follows. 

 
Fiscal Year 2009 Overview 
 
The Defense Department is committed to executing our mission and responding to 21st Cent
national security requirements. In Fiscal Year (FY) 2009, the Department carried out its mission in
many ways. We continued to engage in Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) military operations while 

xecuting a substantial portion of our responsible troop withdrawal from Iraq. In FY 2009, 

ury 
 

14 
nt 

ns throughout the world. For 
xample fforts in Taiwan, including supplies and airlift support, in 

respons addition DoD provided humanitarian 
assistan oads, basic medical 
relief, an s 80 countries. 
 
The Dep
Departm
Marine ry goals of 547,400 and 
202,000 ssful effort will 
allow th on their forces and will ultimately result in 

ilitary m artment also continued the growth of the 
 

s in Africa. 

To carry out its key missions, the Department maintained focus and commitment to take care of 
its people: the all-volunteer military force, including the wounded Service members, military 
families, and civilians. Both military and civilian personnel received a 3.9 percent pay raise. The 
basic allowances for military housing and subsistence increased an average of 5.9 percent and 
10.0 percent, respectively, to ensure that military families could cover increased costs. In 
recognition of the needs of our wounded warriors, the Department improved military health care 
facilities through funding initiatives such as warrior transition units. In addition, healthcare was 
provided for 9.3 million eligible beneficiaries in 59 inpatient medical facilities, more than 800 
medical and dental clinics, as well as private sector care through the TRICARE program. To 
address the needs of military families, DoD invested in family support efforts such as childcare 
centers, schools, and youth programs. 

e
counter-Insurgency Operations (COIN) brigade combat teams (BCTs) in Iraq decreased from 
to 12. Since the President announced the responsible withdrawal in May 2009, the Departme
saved $554 million in contractor costs, transferred 20,000 units of equipment to Afghanistan, and 
returned 10 percent of total OIF equipment to the U.S. The FY 2010 plans reflect the President’s 
decision to decrease force levels to six Advisory and Assistance Brigades by August 31, 2010. 
 
While performing mission requirements in Iraq, we also increased our efforts in Operation 
Enduring Freedom (OEF) in Afghanistan. In FY 2009, we executed the President’s decision to 
increase force levels from three to six BCTs with a Marine Expeditionary Brigade, a Stryker BCT, 
an Afghan Security Force training BCT, and additional supporting forces and capabilities. The 
additional 33,000 troops were critical in training Afghan Security Forces, bolstering International 
Security Assistance Force security in Regional Command East, retaking Helmand Province, and 

creasing security in Kandahar. in
 
While continuing to support OIF and OEF, the Department conducted numerous other military 

perations, including humanitarian efforts and relief operatioo
e , DoD provided disaster relief e

e to the devastation caused by typhoon Marokot. In 
ce, including building basic infrastructure, such as schools and r

ns to prepare for disasters in as many ad projects that enable host natio

artment depends on the Military Services to execute operations and in FY 2009 th
ent took a number of steps to strengthen the Military Services. In FY 2009, the Army and 

e 

Corps successfully achieved their “grow the force” active milita
ears ahead of schedule. The succe enlisted, respectively, more than two y

e Army and Marine Corps to reduce the stress 
embers spending less time deployed. The Depm

special operations force level by over 5,000 military personnel. In addition to “growing the force,”
the Department created an additional regional command. The Africa Command (AFRICOM) was 
established on October 1, 2008, the first day of FY 2009. This command will greatly enhance the 

ation’s focus on outreach and counterterrorism effortn
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The Department inve

erial vehicles, mine re
sted in new weapon system platforms and capabilities such as unmanned 

sistance ambush protected vehicles, and precision guided munitions to 
n 

 to 
 initiatives that address contracting and contract 

anagement issues, to include contracting in an expeditionary environment, addressing the 
owing the 

n to acquisition improvements, the Department continues to make improvements in 
nancial management and audit readiness. The DoD established plans to improve business 
ractices and internal controls to enhance visibility and accountability of its resources. The 

Department strengthened the business environment within the operational theater to increase 
effectiveness in terms of responsive mission support and better control over resources. To 
accomplish this, the Department formed a cross-functional team of senior leaders to ensure that 
the people, processes, and systems were in place at appropriate levels to provide management 
visibility and assurance over controls. The underlying goal is to provide support for improved 
mission effectiveness, enhanced personnel safety/security, reduced likelihood of loss of funds or 
erroneous payments, less rework, and better cost visibility and control. By applying lessons 
learned from prior theater experience, the Department hopes to develop an enhanced capability 
for future contingencies and theater operations. 
 
In FY 2009, the Department established plans for continued management reform organized 
around high-priority performance goals. These plans will: 
 

• Increase energy efficiencies 
• Reform the personnel security clearance process 
• Execute Virtual Lifetime Electronic Record (VLER) milestones 
• Streamline the hiring process 
• Spend American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) funds quickly and effectively 
• Provide effective business operations and ensure logistics support to Overseas 
Contingency Operations (OCO) 
• Increase the audit readiness of individual DoD components 
• Reform the DoD acquisition process 
• Enhance the security cooperation workforce 

 
In summary, during FY 2009, the Secretary emphasized the strategic priorities of taking care of 
our people; reshaping and modernizing the force; reforming how the Department buys equipment 
and services; and supporting the troops in the field. 

a
improve the nation’s ability to combat unconventional threats. While investing in new weapo
systems, the Department focused on aligning acquisitions to operational demands and 
requirements. 
 
The Department implemented plans to improve acquisition effectiveness. We are committed
pursuing a number of acquisition excellence
m
Government Accountability Office’s (GAO) high-risk area of interagency contracting, gr
contracting workforce, and increasing DoD organic acquisition management capability. 
 

 additioIn
fi
p
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Veterans Affairs 
 
Some MD&A presentations provide a Web-based Performance and Accountability 
Report (PAR) with hyperlinks to MD&A sections (and other sections of its PAR). Several 
agencies provide similar Web pages, which are very helpful. See Table 1 above for the 
Web addresses. The Department of Veteran’s Affairs (VA)’s PAR and MD&A is an 
outstanding example of this approach. 
 
Regarding the overview section, the VA begins its MD&A with a “performance 
scorecard”, which is followed in due course by a concise “performance overview” as 
follows. 
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MISSION AND ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 
Regarding the four MD&A sections listed in SFFAS 15, the mission and organizational 
structure section should be concise and easily understood. Well-designed graphics help 
a great deal. Best practices for the mission and organizational structure follow, starting 
with the Defense Department.   
 
 
 
Defense Department
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20 

MISSION AND ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 
Regarding the four MD&A sections listed in SFFAS 15, the mission and organizational 
structure section should be concise and easily understood. Well-designed graphics help 
a great deal. Best practices for the mission and organizational structure follow, starting 
with the Defense Department.   
 
 
 
Defense Department 
 
The Defense Department’s MD&A concise and easily understood description of a 
complex organization is shown on the following pages. 
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Federal Trade Commission 
 
 
The Federal Trade Commission’s mission and organizational structure section is concise 
and easily grasped as follows: 
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NASA 
 
The National Air and Space Administration’s (NASA) MD&A contains a concise and 
graphic mission/organization section as follows:  
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Patent and Trademark Office 
 
The Patent and Trademark Office’s (PTO) MD&A provides an excellent example for 
presenting a great deal of information about “mission and organizational structure” in a 
table as follows 
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e key performance measures for a “vital few”  matters, programs, etc. and relate them 
who 

PERFORMANCE GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND RESULTS 
 
The performance objectives, goals, and results section of the MD&A should highlight 

3th
to strategic goals.  In deciding which matters to present, the entity should consider 
the stakeholders are.  The MD&A should focus on matters of substantial interest to 
external users (the public, Congress, etc.), and avoid matters that are primarily if not
exclusively 

 
internal, such as routine internal management processes.  External users 

often will neither understand nor care about such matters.  
 
For the federal government, the distinction between “internal” and “external” users is 

here 
ors. 

d program 
anagers.  However, for information at the more highly summarized governmentwide or 

l users (citizens), and internal users (Congress, executives, and 
program managers).  
 
Presenting concise performance information is a challenge. The tendency is to include a 
lot of information rather than applying a rigorous relevancy or “vital few” test.  
 
Performance measures should relate costs to outputs and outcomes.  Cost information 
should stimulate interest in determining where resources are going or will go.  Any 
change in how a performance measure is calculated should be explained.  Such 
changes can affect the outcome, including causing an agency to meet a goal they 
otherwise would have failed to meet (or vise-versa). 
 
The large array of performance measures is daunting and not likely to be read and 
therefore has not been identified as a “best practice.”   
 
In addition, the “vital few” unmet

more difficult to make than for states and local governments or the private sector w
the primary audience for general purpose financial statements is investors and credit
The Board has stated that, in general, users of federal financial information fall into the 
four categories identified in SFFAC 1:  citizens, Congress, executives, an
m
consolidated level, the Board divided the four groups identified in SFFAC 1 into two 
major groups: externa

 performance goals should be discussed because the 
agency’s target should be challenging. 
 
Focusing on clear, measurable outcomes and goals contributes to effective government 
operations.4  The MD&A is an opportunity for management to frankly and concisely 
explain the essentials of performance, and to go beyond the usual formulaic 
communication. The Government Performance and Results Act of 1994 (GPRA) and 
various administrations before and since 1994 have sought to focus on outcomes and 
create useful performance measures.  However, OMB has noted that current GPRA-
based performance goals and measures are not being used.  Congress does not use 
them to conduct oversight, agencies do not use them to manage, and the public does 
                                                 

3 SFFAS 15, par. 6. 
4 See OMB’s “high priority performance goals” (“HPPG) initiative as explained in the Analytical 
Perspectives section of the FY 2011 budget. 
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not use them to evaluate government operations.  Moreover, OMB has noted that past 
 efforts generally have been ineffective; they have identified 

roblems involving management policy and planning rather than focusing on outcomes.  

ce goals (HPPG) initiative requires 
gencies to commit to a limited number of ambitious, realistic, and achievable high-
riority goals to be achieved within 24 months without additional resources or legislation; 

it requires agencies to have a limited number (generally three to eight) of well-defined, 
outcome-based measures of performance.   
 
The HPPG initiative contrasts with the typical MD&A discussion of performance in 
current reports. The latter often discusses very high level strategic goals and, when 
discussing operations, uses (1) general, usually positive statements and (2) a complex 
table of performance measures that may be challenging to understand.   
 
The following presentation of MD&A performance sections includes some references to 
the HPPG initiative.  

performance management
p
 
OMB states that current performance reports seldom answer the questions of key 
audiences. The OMB’s recent “high priority performan
a
p
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Commerce Department 

t presents an effective chart relating organizational structure 
ureaus) to the three strategic objectives as follows. 

 
 

 
Among the extensive material in its discussion of performance in the FY 2009 MD&A, 
the Commerce Departmen
(b
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Defense Department 
 
Defense Department’s MD&A provides a concise and easily understood description of 
performance as follows..  
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Environmental Protection Agency 

The Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) effective MD&A performance data 
includes a very informative U.S. map color coded by EPA region reporting an 
accomplishment for each EPA region as follows.  
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The EPA mentions the total number of its performance measures (205) but it does not 
try to present them in the MD&A. For example, no long textual passages or daunting 
table are presented. The EPA presents percentages for met, unmet, and data not 
available, and presents a discussion of “key accomplishments” and “challenges by 
Objective and Strategic Goal” in a “highlights of program performance by goal” (see 
pages 13-35). Although 22 pages of discussion seem excessive, the EPA presents it 
effectively.  

47 
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Federal Aviation Administration 
The Federal Aviation Administration’s (FAA) MD&A is effective. It presents 31 
performance measures for four strategic goals with minimal narrative using an 
informative table as follows.   
 

 

48 



MD&A Best Practices – Performance Goals, Objectives, and Results 

 

49 



MD&A Best Practices – Performance Goals, Objectives, and Results 

GSA 

on’s (GSA) MD&A and financial report as a whole is 
lly Web-based.  GSA presents several key performance measures for each GSA 

s 

 
The General Services Administrati
fu
strategic goal. There are menu selections for “GSA Overview”, Key Performance 
Measures”, “Financial Results”, and Assurances and Management Challenges”. GSA’
eport is available on the Web at the address listed in Table 1 above. r

 
 

ustice DepartmentJ  
 

The Justice Department’s FY 2009 MD&A performance section is concise and 
informative. A table with the 25 “key performance measures” is presented under the 
menu selection for “analysis of performance information” (see the Web address in Table 
1) and is well done, as shown in part immediately below:  
 
 

 
 
 
Thus, the Justice Department presents goals that are generally fairly specific and 
consistent with the Justice Department’s five “high priority performance goals” identified 
during the OMB performance initiative and published in the Analytical Perspectives of 
the FY 2009 Budget, page 82-83. These goals are described as a “subset of those used 
to regularly monitor and report performance”, and are specific and generally quantified, 
e.g., “White Collar Crime: Increase white collar caseload by five percent concerning 
mortgage fraud, health care fraud, and official corruption b 2012, with 90 percent of 
cases favorably resolved.” Fewer measures are a best practice in part because they can 
be easily tracked. 
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Department of Veterans Affairs 
 
The Department of Veterans Affairs’ (VA) Web-based MD&A provides a hyperlink to a 
summary performance table that provides a great deal of information about strategic 
goals, performance measures and results, as mentioned in a prior section this report. 
 
The table in combination with the performance overview (see immediately below) 
communicate this information effectively.  
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Federal Housing Finance Administration 
The FHFA presents an effective “summary of performance” as follows: 
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or the financial statement analysis section, the MD&A should focus on the changes

ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND STEWARDSHIP 
INFORMATION SECTION 
 
F  
in financial position and, thus, the results of operations during the period.  It should relate 
financial results, performance, and costs to strategic goals. It should explain the 
significant variations from prior years, from the budget, and from performance plans.  It 
should explain what happened and whether what happened is likely to continue in the 
future. Thus, the financial analysis should do more than merely describe the changes in 
financial statement line items that are obvious from the information on the face of the 
statements. In this regard, charts and tables are especially helpful.  
 
Even if the financial statements have been read, often the true import of the data is not 
well understood by the reader. The MD&A should provide valuable information about 
financial results and trends that are not apparent from the face of the financials. The 
following are some examples of effective presentation of financial results. 
 
Energy Department 
 
In FY 2009, the Energy Department presented a bar graph on the first page of the 
financial statement analysis in the MD&A that shows total assets and liabilities since 
2005, and a further breakdown by certain asset and liability types for 2009, as follows.  
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A further graphic decomposition of assets, liabilities and costs, with minimal narrative, is 

 
presented, as shown below.   
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General Services Administration 

 
As mentioned above, the General Services Administration’s (GSA) financial report is 
fully Web-based.  GSA presents a concise financial analysis for each strategic goal. See  
menu selection for “Financial Results” for the MD&A discussion at the Web site provided 
in Table 1 above.  
 
 
Federal Aviation Administration 
 
The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) presents financial results using a good 
balance of narrative and graphs as follows.   
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Small Business Administration 
The FY 2009 Small Business Administration (SBA) annual report provides an example of 
management effectively explaining financial and operational results as shown below. 
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e 

FFMIA, etc.). 

ANALYSIS OF SYSTEMS, CONTROLS AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
 
The fourth MD&A section listed in SFFAS 15, systems, controls, and legal 
compliance, should briefly discuss the status of systems, controls, and legal compliance 
and describe material problems revealed by audits or otherwise known to management 
and the corrective actions taken. The volume of information in this section can becom
excessive. Being concise here is difficult but essential for communicating effectively  
 
This section should also address any non-compliance with laws and regulations 
significant to the financial statements (prompt pay, debt collection, anti-deficiency, 

 
 
General Services Administration 
 
For FY 2009, the General Services Administration’s (GSA) financial report was fully 
Web-based and presented a very “user friendly” and concise analysis of systems, 

d 

nd 

e Federal Managers’ 

Financial Integrity Act (FMFIA). Management assures the effectiveness of GSA’s internal 

controls to support effective and efficient programmatic operations, reliable reporting, 

 with all applicable laws and regulations. Throughout the year, 

s extensive evaluation and review of its operations. Based on the 

SA can provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of 

of the internal controls as of September 30, 2009. 

In addition, GSA conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls over 

financial reporting in accordance with Appendix A, Office of Management and Budget’s 

(OMB) Circular A-123, Management’s Responsibility for Internal Control. Based on the 

results of this assessment, GSA can provide reasonable assurance that its internal 

controls over financial reporting, as of June 30, 2009, were operating effectively and no 

controls and legal compliance. See the menu selection for “Assurances and 
Management Challenges” at the Web address listed in Table 1 above, the first page of 
which is as follows. 
 

Statement of Assurance 

The management of the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA) recognizes an

fully embraces our responsibility to establish and maintain effective internal controls a

financial management systems that meet the objectives of th

and compliance

management conduct

results of this effort, G

FMFIA are being met, and that no material weaknesses exist in the design or operation 
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material weaknesses were found in the design or operation of the internal control over 

Improvement Act (FFMIA) non-compliance had existed in accounting adjustments being 

entered at a summary level, resulting in a FFMIA non-compliance with recording the 

U.S. Standard General Ledger (USSGL) at the transaction level. Subsequent testing 

through September 30, 2009 identified the remediation of the FFMIA non-compliance 

due to a successful Lean Six Sigma project implementation. GSA’s financial 

management systems were in substantial compliance with the requirements of FFMIA as 

of September 30, 2009. 

This system of internal controls is also being used to support the American Recovery 

and Reinvestment Act (Recovery Act) of 2009 awards made at GSA. Relying on OMB 

guidance, GSA performed an assessment of risks related to the Recovery Act. This 

assessment, combined with management’s assessment of internal controls, enables 

GSA to provide reasonable assurance that the key accountability objectives of the 

Recovery Act are being met and that significant risks to meeting these Recovery Act 

accountability objectives are adequately mitigated. 

financial reporting. The assessment did find that a Federal Financial Management 

 

Paul F. Prouty 

Acting Administrator 

November 12, 2009 
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Patent and Trademark Office 
 

The Patent and Trademark Office (PTO) presented a very effective, Web-based analysis 
of systems controls and legal compliance as follows. 
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United States Department of Agriculture 
 
In FY 2009, the Agriculture Department (USDA) presented a summary of the material 
weaknesses it is working to correct in a concise table as follows.  
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FORW
CHALL

“Forwa
manag
current

ARD-LOOKING INFORMATION, TRENDS, AND MANAGEMENT 
ENGES 

 
rd-looking information” in the MD&A is arguably the most useful information 
ement can provide. The MD&A should discuss the expected future effects of 
 demands, risks, uncertainties, events, conditions, and trends, and it should 
 the expected future effects of discuss anticipated events, conditions, and trends, which 
 15 encourages but does not require. Forward-looking information may be in any 
our MD&A sections. 

l Housing Finance Agency

SFFAS
of the f
 
 
Federa  
 
In the performance section of the Federal Housing Finance Agency’s (FHFA) FY 2009 
MD&A, the FHFA use forward-looking information as follows.   

 
Mortgage Delinquencies and Defaults  
 
Rapidly rising levels of serious delinquencies and defaults, further aggravated by 
high levels of unemployment and severe declines in home prices, continue to 
stress the Enterprises. As of June 30, 2009, Enterprise serious delinquencies 
had increased nearly 200 percent year-over-year to 2.89 percent for Freddie Mac 
and 3.94 percent for Fannie Mae. Real estate owned (REO) acquisitions for the 
first three quarters of FY 2009 at Fannie Mae were 57,469, an approximate 30 
percent increase year-over-year. Freddie Mac had 35,987 REO acquisitions, 
approximately 60 percent higher than the year before.  
 
To mitigate the impact of continued serious delinquencies and defaults, the 
Enterprises expanded loan modification efforts and took leadership roles in the 
MHA program. The FHL Banks that participate in mortgage purchase programs 
developed borrower assistance programs that enhance the foreclosure 
prevention efforts for mortgage loans owned by the FHL Banks.  
 
The Enterprises are recording historic levels of modifications and refinances. For 
borrowers unable to continue homeownership, the Enterprises offer foreclosure 
alternatives, including short sales, deeds in lieu of foreclosure, and REO rental 
programs. The impact of the HAMP and HARP elements remains uncertain as 
unemployment and house prices continue to deteriorate, interest rates rise from 
historic lows, other initiatives are set to expire, and operational difficulties in 
implementing foreclosure prevention programs arise.  
 
Operational Challenges Facing the Enterprises  
 
FHFA placed both Enterprises into conservatorship in September 2008 because 
deteriorating market conditions threatened the companies’ ability to fulfill their 
mission. The Enterprises continue to be challenged by operational constraints 
both internally and by counterparties. To handle high numbers of loan 
modifications, loan servicers are making significant changes in their operational 
systems. In addition, servicers are increasing personnel to meet the intensive 
labor demands needed to manage and reduce foreclosures. The Enterprises are 
working with the government and servicers to accelerate loan modifications and 
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financing, but they also must improve systems within their own operations and 
e changes with servicers.  

 

jectives. These facilities support the Enterprises’ capital and liquidity to provide 
onfidence to investors in the Enterprises’ debt and MBS. Some of these facilities 

expire at the end of this year, so the Enterprises and FHFA are working with 
Treasury to ensure investor confidence is maintained through appropriate 
government support coupled with strengthened liquidity and asset liability 
management within the Enterprises. 

re
coordinat

In 2008 Treasury established three finance facilities (GSE Credit Facility, MBS 
Purchase Program, and Senior Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement) to support 
the ongoing business operations of the Enterprises and meet conservatorship 
ob
c
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Postal Service
 

 
 

The Postal Service revenue must cover expenditures and therefore the Postal Service 
must project future activity and set rates. The following is from the “Risk Factors” section 
of the Postal Service financial report preceding the MD&A but would be suitable for the 
MD&A. . 

 

 
 
 
And from the Postal Service MD&A per se: 
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From the Postal Service MD&A, page 35: 
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Patent and Trademark Office 
The Patent and Trademark Office’s (PTO) presents forward-looking information in the 
MD&A section entitled “Management Challenges and What’s Ahead”, as follows. 
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And also, further on in the section -- 
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Department of Veterans Affairs 

 
Among the MD&A sections provided by the Department of Veterans’ Affairs’ (VA) Web-
based presentation is one on “most important achievements and current challenges.” 
The sample shown immediately below is for VA’s strategic goals 1 and 2. It is an 
effective, frank discussion by strategic goal. Another section is on “performance shortfall 
analysis”, which is also presented immediately below for goals 1 and 2 only.  Both 
sections provide excellent forward-looking information. 
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Current Federal MD&A Standards 

ndards
 
FASAB Sta  
 

FAS 15 
establishes the requirement that an entity present an MD&A with required components in 

A should address the entity’s program and financial 

ion 
orts 

l 

ortant in the federal government than in the private 
ector.8  A third key role is that financial reports require the accumulation and 

n  operations that they would not otherwise have.9   

f its 
performance; 

le future effects of anticipated future demands, events, 
conditions, trends, etc. that management believes would be important to 
the reader of the report. MD&A should explain future effects if there is a 

                       

Current MD&A standards and concepts provide guidance and establish minimum 
requirements.5 SFFAC 3 provides the basic MD&A concepts while SF

its general purpose federal financial report (GPFFR). 
  

SFFAC 3 provides that MD&
performance measures, financial statements, systems and controls, compliance with 
laws and regulations, and actions taken or planned to address problems. The discuss
and analysis of these subjects may be based partly on information contained in rep
other than the GPFFR. In addition, MD&A also should address significant events, 
conditions, trends, and contingencies that may affect future operations.6 

   
SFFAC 3 notes that financial reports have two key roles: feedback and prediction. 
Managers have the knowledge and should explain what the report is communicating. 
MD&A makes the GPFFR understandable.7 Due to the complexity of the federa
government and the lack of user familiarity with federal financial and performance 
concepts, MD&A may be more imp
s
compilation of auditable and therefore reliable information, which agencies would not 
otherwise do, and which results in the agency personnel gaining an understanding of 
their agency’s financial condition a d
 
SFFAC 3 lists five subjects an MD&A should address10: 

 
1) the entity’s structure, mission, goals, and objectives, with indicators o

2) actions taken or planned to improve performance, when appropriate; 
3) the financial statements; 
4) systems, internal controls and legal compliance, including corrective 

action taken or planned; and 
5) the future effects of existing, currently-known demands, risks, 

uncertainties, events, conditions and trends. MD&A may also address 
the possib

                          
 provides a comparison of MD&A concepts, standards, and requirements from 

5, and Circular A-136, and shows the similarities and differences between these 
es the brevity of SFFAS 15.   

 

5 The table in Appendix A
SFFAC 3, SFFAS 1
documents.  It illustrat
6 SFFAC 3, par. 1. 
7 SFFAC 3, pars. 3-5.
8 SFFAC 3, par. 7. 
9 SFFAC 3, par. 17. 
10 SFFAC 3, par. 9. 
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reasonable prospect of occurrence.11  “Future effects” should be 
quantified, if possible, and ranges are useful in discussing future 
effects.12 

 
SFFAS 15, the FASAB’s MD&A standard, establishes the basic requirements for an 

D&A and requires that each of the above subjects be addressed.13 

he MD&A should discuss each topic even if basic 

 s ort- and long-term perspective.  Management should 
l effect of variations in assets, liabilities, costs, 

balances and amounts in the financial 

l effect of 
these factors, of changed circumstances, and of expected future trends.  The 
disc ential interest to readers who are 
not part of a
 
Not ded in MD&A. Thus, the 
MD&A should summarize the most important items, explain the relevant causes and 

egarding performance, SFFAC 3 calls for the entity to explain what it does and how 
ation readers need to gauge success. 

 should explain how the entity measures success and what the measures show.17  

ple 
e 

late the strategic plan to the entity’s results, include both positive and negative 
sults, explain what needs to be done and what is planned, and note the limitations of 

per
 
                                                

M
 

 addition, SFFAC 3 explains that tIn
information on that topic is in a non-GPFFR report. The MD&A concepts included 
referencing such material.  
 
Regarding financial statement analysis – item 3 in paragraph above – SFFAC 3, the 
MD&A concepts, provides that management should give readers the benefit of its 

nderstanding from both a hu
discuss the significance and potentia

venues, obligations, and outlays; of particular re
statements; and of stewardship information.14 The MD&A should explain significant 
variations from prior years, from the budget, and from plans, and the potentia

15

ussion should include only those variations of pot
gency management.  

 all material changes are sufficiently important to be inclu

efforts, and place them in context.16 
 
R
well it is doing it. The MD&A should provide inform
It
 
To assess a government entity’s performance, readers need to know more than sim
financial information.18 Reporting performance in government is different than in th
private sector.19 The financial statement analysis should answer questions such as: 
What is the entity’s financial position and condition? How did this come about? MD&A 
should re
re

formance reporting.20 

 

. 2-4. 

11 SFFAC 3, par. 34. 
12 SFFAC 3, par. 35-36. 
13 SFFAS 15, pars
14 SFFAC 3, 26-7. 
15 SFFAC 3. par. 14. 
16 SFFAC 3, 26-7. 
17 SFFAC 3, par. 11. 
18 SFFAC 3, par. 13. 
19 SFFAC 3, par. 42. 
20 SFFAC 3, par. 45-9. 
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Reg l 
accounting nclude 
summaries of information about systems, internal legal compliance from other reports, 
e.g., FMFIA and FFMIA reports or incorporate them by reference. The MD&A, in turn, 
sho
 
OMB Circul

arding systems and controls, the MD&A should tell the reader whether the interna
and administrative controls are adequate.21 The GPFFR may i

uld discuss the most important aspects of this information.22 

ar A-136 
 
OM t 
for the federal agency PARs and Pilot Program reports required to be submitted to the 
OM
agencies ha
manag
 
Circula

cular 

3) financial statements and stewardship information 
26

 and consistent with major goals and objectives in the entity’s strategic and 
erformance plans, including trend data where available. These performance highlights 

B Circular A-136, Financial Reporting Requirements,23 defines the form and conten

B and the Congress.24 Circular A-136 provides a framework within which individual 
ve flexibility to provide information useful to the Congress, agency 

ers, and the public.25  

r A-136 MD&A Provisions 
 
The MD&A provisions of Circular A-136 cite SFFAC 3 and SFFAS 15.  Thus, the Cir
A-136 requires MD&A sections wherein the entity is to discuss and analyze: 

 
1) mission and organizational structure 
2) performance goals, objectives, and results 

4) systems, controls and legal compliance.    
 

Also as in SFFAS 15 (par. 3), Circular A-136 includes the requirement for forward-
looking information.  
 
Circular A-136 MD&A Performance Reporting 
 
In addition, Circular A-136 includes extensive MD&A instructions with respect to 
performance reporting. The Circular provides that the MD&A should include (in no 
specific order) highlights of performance goals and results (positive and negative) 
related to
p
should:  
 

1) provide a clear, objective picture of the entity’s program results 
compared to its goals and objectives;  

                                                 
C 3, par. 15. 
C 3, pars. 18-22. 
10, 2009. 
he Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990 (“CFO Act”) (Pub. L. 101 – 576), as amended by the 
Consolidation Act of 2000 (Pub. L. 106-531); the Accountability of Tax Dollars Act of 2002 

21 SFFA
22 SFFA
23 June 
24 See t
Reports 
(“ATDA”) ( Pub. L. 107–289); and Annual Management Reports under the Government Corporations 

he reports submitted to 
r purposes of monitoring budget execution. 

36, Section II.2.4, Scope. 

Control Act (31 U.S.C. § 9101 et seq.). The PARs and AFRs are in addition to t
OMB fo
25 See Circular A-136, Section I.1, Guide to the Circular. 
26 Circular A-1
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2) indicate the extent to which its programs are achieving their intended 

 resources the entity uses to achieve its 

ted the 
se may include information about factors that 

’s control as well as information about 
factors over which the entity has significant control;  

ance 

6) summarize the procedures management has designed and followed to 
at reported performance information is 

27

ssess the relative efficiency and effectiveness of entity programs/operations. 
fic al 

input resour d effect. 
28  

  
Entities ing 
and reportin  extent possible, indicate results achieved 
and  
responsibilit hould 
be engaged es of 
and the ficiency and effectiveness (e.g., the most 
effe  
always
appropriate  
results. 
 
Circula alysis 
 
With respect Circular A-136 incorporates SFFAS 15 

aragraphs.   Thus, MD&A should help users understand the entity’s financial results, 
hould 

sis 
 
f the 

  

goals and objectives, and explain performance trends;  
3) discuss the strategies and

performance goals;  
4) evaluate the significance of underlying factors that may have affec

reported performance. The
are substantially outside the entity

5) include an explanation of plans and timelines to improve perform
where targets were not met;  

provide reasonable assurance th
relevant and reliable; and  

7) discuss important limitations and difficulties associated with performance 
measurement and reporting should be noted to the extent relevant.  

 
Circular A-136 encourages entities to provide information in the PAR that helps the 
reader a
Ef iency is defined as the ratio of an “effective or useful” outcome or output to the tot

ces of a system. Effectiveness means having an intended or expecte

 are instructed to strive to articulate efficiency and effectiveness by develop
g objective measures that, to the

 relate major goals and objectives in their strategic plan to cost categories (i.e.,
y segments) presented in the entity’s statement of net cost.  Entities s
in strategic management, including recognizing that the dual objectiv

 occasional trade-offs between ef
ctive solution or process is not always the most efficient, nor is the most efficient

 the most effective). Entities should focus on tracking and reporting the most 
and meaningful measures that show program effectiveness, efficiency, and

r A-136 MD&A Financial Statement An

 to financial statement analysis, 
 29p

position and condition conveyed in the principal financial statements. The MD&A s
include comparisons of the current year to the prior year and should provide an analy
of the agency's overall financial position and results of operations to assist users in
assessing whether that financial position has improved or deteriorated as a result o
year's activities. It should give users the benefit of management’s understanding of the:

                                                 
lar A-136, Section II.2.6, Performance Goals, Objectives, and Results. 27 Circu

28 Ibid. 
29 Circular A-136, Section II.2.7, “Analysis of the Entity’s Financial Statements and Stewardship 
Information.” 
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1) Major changes in types or amounts of assets, liabilities, costs, revenue

obligations, and outlays;  
2) Relevance of particular balances and amounts shown in the principa

financial statements, particularly if relevant to important financial 
management issues; and  

3) Entity’s stewardship information.  
 
This section should also inclu

s, 

l 

de a discussion of key financial-related measures 
emphasizing financial trends and assess financial operations. 

ent 
t 

orm to financial systems 

ent of the effectiveness of the internal 

n-
conformances (FMFIA § 4), and a summary of corrective actions to 
resolve the material weaknesses and non-conformances. Illustrative 

anagement’s 

 
Circular A-136 MD&A Systems and Controls 
 
Circular A-136 requires agencies to provide assurances related to the Federal 
Managers’ Financial Integrity Act (FMFIA) and the Federal Financial Management 
Improvement Act (FFMIA)30 in a separate section of the MD&A entitled “Managem
Assurances.”  The Circular instructs the agencies that the FMFIA assurance statemen
should: 
  

1) Provide management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the 
organization’s internal controls to support effective and efficient 
programmatic operations, reliable financial reporting, and compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations (FMFIA § 2); and whether the 
financial management systems conf
requirements (FMFIA § 4).  

2) Provide a separate assessm
controls over financial reporting as a subset of the overall FMFIA 
assurance statement (i.e., separate paragraph within the FMFIA 
Assurance Statement).  

3) Include a summary of material weaknesses (FMFIA § 2) and no

assurance statements and further guidance on corrective action plans 
can be found in the CFOC Implementation Guide, M
Responsibility for Internal Control, Appendix A, Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting located a
(

t: 
nts/Impementation_Guide_for http://www.cfoc.gov/docume

OMB_Circular_A-123.pdf).  
 
Management is also directed to include its FFMIA compliance assessment in this 
section. FFMIA requires management to assess the organization’s compliance with 
Federal financial management systems requirements, standards promulgated by 
FASAB, and the U.S. Standard General Ledger (USSGL) at the transaction level. 
Further guidance on the financial systems requirements can be found in OMB Circular 
No. A-127, Financial Management Systems. Circular A-11, Part 2, Section 52, 
Information on Financial Management outlines requirements for agency’s plans for 

stantial compliance.  
 

bringing its systems into sub
                                                

30 Pub.L.No.104-208. 

99 



Appendix 1 – MD&A Best Practices – Current Federal MD&A Standards 

 
Management is to review its FMFIA assurance statements and its FFMIA compliance 
determination for consistency with the findings specified in the annual financial 

orts could, 
in fact be different, but they should not be in direct conflict. When conflicting 
discrepancies exist, it is management’s responsibility to ensure that outstanding issues 
are appropriately reported.  

 
A review of agency reporting reveals some noteworthy aspects of FMFIA reporting. 
What appears to be happening is that management reports material weaknesses in 
internal control using criteria different than the auditors use to determine material 
weaknesses and system non-conformances in the accounting and financial reporting 
systems. The result is that some of the management-determined material weaknesses 
are different than what the auditor reports and some are the same. However, no 
instances were found where the auditor reported that a material weakness in internal 
control in financial systems that management did not report. 
 
The review found different results for FFMIA than for FMFIA.  Several instances were 
found where the auditor reported non-compliance with the FFMIA but management felt 
that the agency complied. Management frequently tried to justify its position rather than 
state what it will do to remove the auditor’s finding. 
 
Circular A-136 MD&A Other Provisions 

 
In addition, Circular A-136 affords management the discretion to include a summary in 
the MD&A of other information, initiatives, and issues it identifies. This could include 
summarizing entity progress in implementing key administration management 
initiatives.31. 
 
Circular A-136 requires the MD&A to include a section articulating the limitations of the 
principal financial statements, and provides the specific wording.32 

Circular A-136 Non-MD&A PAR Sections 
 
Circular A-136 directs that Sections 2, 3 and 4 of the PAR be for performance reporting, 
financial statements, and other accompanying information, respectively. The instructions 
for performance reporting in Circular A-136 are taken from Circular A-11, Section 230, 
Preparing and submitting the Annual Performance Report, the Performance Portion of a 
Performance and Accountability Report. Circular A-11 takes precedent if there is any 
inconsistency between Circulars A-11 and A-136.33  Agencies are instructed to refer to 
Circular A-11 for a comprehensive discussion on performance. The annual performance 

                                                

statement audit report(s).  The Office of Inspector General or auditor is to compare 
material weaknesses disclosed during the audit with those material weaknesses 
reported in the agency’s FMFIA report and document any differences. The rep

 
31 OMB Circular A-136, Section II.2.9. 
32 OMB Circular A-136, Section II.2.10. 
33 OMB Circular A-136, Section II.3.1, General, fn. 20. 
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report required by GPRA provides information on an agency's actual performance and 
rogress in achieving the goals in its strategic plan and performance budget.  

 
A annual pe t agencies, 
this nce Section” of its PAR.  For those agencies participating in the 
pilot, the APR is to accompany the Con n (CBJ).

p

gencies prepare one 
is the “Performa

rformance report for a fiscal year. For mos

gressional Budget Justificatio
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156BMD&A Task Group 
 

157BName 158BFederal Agency 
159BRegina Kearney, 

Chairperson 
160BOffice of Management and Budget 

161BCarmen Pearlstein 162BCommerce Department 
163BShirley Watt 164BNational Science Foundation 

165BLisa Hemmer 166BDepartment of Homeland Security 
167BCynthia Simpson 168BLabor Department 

169BScott Bell 170BTreasury Department 
171BJoseph Donovan 172BLabor Department 

173BMelissa Evans 174BDepartment of Homeland Security 
175BMike Swanchara 176BGeneral Services Administration 

177BMolly Dawson 178BDepartment of Health and Human Services 
179BCharles Fox 180BGovernment Accountability Office 

181BKevin McFadden 182BKPMG 
183BRichard Fontenrose 184BFederal Accounting Standards Advisory Board 
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